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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may constitute forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) that involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various 
important factors, many of which may be beyond our control. Words such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “expect,” 
“anticipate,” “intend,” “should,” “are confident,” “will,” “could,” “outlook,” or the negative versions of those words or other 
comparable words and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements. Future economic and industry trends that 
could potentially impact revenue and profitability are difficult to predict. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-
looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will prove to be accurate. Factors that could cause results to 
differ from those expressed in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the risks described or referenced in 
“ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and otherwise in our reports and filings with the SEC, as well 
as the following:

• risks related to changes in global economic and financial conditions, including inflation, and the resulting impact on 
consumer spending generally and on our operating results, financial condition, and expense management, and our 
ability to adequately mitigate the impact;

• risks related to global operations, including changes in the economic or political conditions where we sell or source our 
products or changes in import tariffs or trade restrictions;

• risks related to the geopolitical landscape and ongoing armed conflicts, and the impact of such conflicts on international 
trade, supplier delivery or increased freight costs, acts of terrorism, mass casualty events, social unrest, civil 
disturbance or disobedience;

• risks related to natural disasters and other unforeseen catastrophic events;
• risks related to our failure to engage our customers, anticipate customer demand, expectations, and changing fashion 

trends, and manage our inventory and product delivery;
• risks related to our ability to successfully invest in and execute on our customer, digital and omnichannel initiatives;
• risks related to the effects of seasonal fluctuations on our sales and our performance during the back-to-school and 

holiday selling seasons;
• risks related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; 
• risks related to fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate, including as a result of earnings and losses 

generated from our international operations;
• risks related to our ability to execute on, and maintain the success of, our strategic and growth initiatives;
• risks and uncertainty related to adverse public health developments;
• risks related to cybersecurity threats and privacy or data security breaches;
• risks related to the potential loss or disruption of our information systems;
• risks related to the continued validity of our trademarks and our ability to protect our intellectual property;
• risks associated with climate change and other corporate responsibility issues;
• risks related to reputational harm to the Company, its officers, and directors;
• risks related to actual or threatened litigation; and
• uncertainties related to future legislation, regulatory reform, policy changes, or interpretive guidance on existing laws 

and regulations.

In light of the significant uncertainties in the forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such information should 
not be regarded as a representation by the Company, or any other person, that the objectives of the Company will be achieved. 
The forward-looking statements included herein are based on information presently available to the management of the 
Company. Except as may be required by applicable law, the Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise its 
forward-looking statements, including any financial targets and estimates, whether as a result of new information, future events, 
or otherwise. As used herein, “Abercrombie & Fitch Co.,” “A&F,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and similar terms include 
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.
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STRATEGY AND KEY BUSINESS PRIORITIES 

The Company remains committed to, and confident in, its vision of being a global, digitally-led, omnichannel apparel retailer and 
continues to evaluate corporate growth opportunities and initiatives that support this vision. 

Foundation for Growth 

The Company introduced the Always Forward Plan in June of Fiscal 2022.  The Always Forward Plan is anchored on our 
strategic growth principles, which are to:

• Execute focused growth plans;
• Accelerate an enterprise-wide digital revolution; and 
• Operate with financial discipline

While the Company has significantly outperformed certain financial targets set forth in the Always Forward Plan, the growth 
principles continue to serve as a framework for the Company achieving sustainable and profitable growth and profitability. 

The Company’s strategic priorities continue to evolve based on changing consumer demands and new strategic opportunities, 
and management reviews and prioritizes investments and strategic focus areas to address such demands and opportunities.

Execute focused growth plans by:
• driving sales growth across regions and brand families primarily through marketing and store investments in our owned 

and operating channels, while pursuing new geographies and markets via franchise, wholesale and licensing 
partnerships;

• using our regionally relevant brand playbooks globally to align the brands’ products, voices, and experiences with 
customers, both digitally and in-store; and

• using testing and chase strategies to deliver compelling assortments and product collections across genders.

Accelerate an enterprise-wide digital revolution to improve the customer and associate experience by: 
• continuing to progress on our multi-year enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) transformation and cloud migration 

journey; and 
• investing in digital and technology to improve experiences across key parts of the customer journey while delivering a 

consistent omnichannel experience.

Operate with financial discipline by:
• using our agile inventory model and pricing strategies to position the Company to support customer demand throughout 

the year; and
• maintaining our durable balance sheet and consistent free cash flow profile, underpinned by our disciplined investment 

philosophy while balancing against macro environment impacts and efficiency efforts.

OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Omnichannel Initiatives

As customer shopping preferences continue to evolve and customers increasingly shop across multiple channels, the Company 
aims to create best-in-class customer experiences and grow total company profitability by delivering improvements through a 
continuous test-and-learn approach. Over the past several years, the Company experienced an acceleration in sales fulfilled 
through digital channels, and continues to see a majority of sales through digital channels for the Abercrombie & Fitch brand. 
Despite, this acceleration in the shift towards digital channels, stores continue to comprise a majority of sales for the Hollister 
brand’s customer. Additionally, stores continue to be an important part of our customers’ omnichannel experience. The Company 
believes that the customers’ shopping experience is improved by its offering of omnichannel capabilities, which include purchase-
online-pickup-in-store, ship-from-store, and cross-channel returns. These features allow our customers ease of access to shop 
the brands’ in-store and online offerings and create a seamless transition between omnichannel capabilities. 

Digital Operations

In order to continuously improve the customer experience, including providing a more seamless and consistent shopping 
experience across channels, the Company continues to invest in its digital infrastructure. Such investments include upgrading 
our merchandising enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system. The Company has the capability to ship merchandise to 
customers in more than 108 countries and process transactions in 21 currencies and through 20 forms of payment globally. The 
Company operates desktop and mobile websites for its brands globally, which are available in various local languages. The 
Company also operates two mobile applications that provide an enhanced mobile shopping experience to the customer and 
provide us with customer insights. The Company continues to develop and invest its mobile capabilities as mobile engagement 
continues to grow, with over 87% of the Company’s digital traffic generated from mobile devices in Fiscal 2024. In addition, in its 
efforts to expand its global brand reach, the Company also partners with certain third-party e-commerce platforms.
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SEASONAL BUSINESS

Historically, the Company’s operations have been seasonal in nature and consist of two principal selling seasons: the spring 
season, which includes the first and second fiscal quarters (“Spring”) and the fall season, which includes the third and fourth 
fiscal quarters (“Fall”). Due to the seasonal nature of the retail apparel industry, the results of operations for any current period 
are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year and the Company could have significant fluctuations in 
certain asset and liability accounts. The Company historically experiences its greatest sales activity during the Fall season due to 
back-to-school and holiday sales periods. Refer to “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

TRADEMARKS

The trademarks Abercrombie & Fitch®, abercrombie®, Hollister®, Gilly Hicks®, and the “Moose” and “Seagull” logos are registered 
with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and registered, or the Company has applications for registration pending, with the 
registries of countries in key markets within the Company’s sales and distribution channels. In addition, these trademarks are 
either registered, or the Company has applications for registration pending, with the registries of many of the foreign countries in 
which the manufacturers of the Company’s products are located. The Company has also registered, or has applied to register, 
certain other trademarks in the U.S. and around the world. The Company believes its products are identified by its trademarks 
and, therefore, its trademarks are of significant value. Each registered trademark has a duration of 10 to 20 years, depending on 
the date it was registered, and the country in which it is registered, and is subject to an indefinite number of renewals for a like 
period upon continued use and appropriate application. The Company intends to continue using its core trademarks and to timely 
renew each of its registered trademarks that remain in use.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS

The Company’s owned and third-party-operated management information technology systems consist of a full range of retail, 
merchandising, human resource and financial systems. These systems include applications related to point-of-sale, digital 
operations, inventory management, supply chain, planning, sourcing, merchandising, payroll, scheduling and financial reporting. 
The Company continues to invest in technology to upgrade its core systems, including its merchandising ERP system and 
modernizing its key data platforms, to enhance reporting and analytics, create efficiencies and to support its digital operations, 
omnichannel capabilities, customer relationship management tools and loyalty programs.

WORKING CAPITAL

Refer to “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the Company’s cash requirements and sources of cash 
available for working capital needs and investment opportunities.

HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company strives to create a culture that drives strategic and key business priorities forward, while being welcoming and 
inclusive, encouraging associates to impact their global communities positively. The Company believes that the strength of its 
unique culture is a competitive advantage, and intends to continue building upon that culture to improve performance across its 
business. 

Therefore, the Company believes that the attraction, retention, and management of qualified talent are integral to its success.  The 
Company has policies and practices in place that are focused on creating a culture and work environment free from abuse, 
harassment or discrimination of any kind. Highlights of our key human capital management programs and efforts include the 
following:  

Table of Contents

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 8 2024 Form 10-K



• Living a corporate purpose of “Being here for you on the journey to being and becoming who you are.” The 
Company’s corporate purpose was developed after conducting listening sessions with its associates and its customers, 
and by weaving in key themes from each of the brand purposes. 

• Offering competitive compensation and benefits to help the Company attract, motivate, and retain the key talent 
necessary to achieve outstanding business and financial results. The Company’s compensation offerings include cash-
based and equity-based incentive awards in order to align the interests of associates and stockholders. In addition, the 
Company continues to provide hybrid and remote work arrangements for corporate home office associates where 
feasible, including “work from anywhere” days and weeks. We also support our associates and their families beyond our 
competitive compensation with comprehensive benefits offerings, providing eligible associates with paid parental leave 
in the United States and internationally based on local law, as well as adoption and fertility support benefits to all eligible 
associates globally.

• Improving associate engagement through open communication channels with a focus on associate experience. The 
Company regularly holds all-company meetings to communicate with its associates. The Company also collects 
feedback through various engagement surveys throughout the year to better understand the associate experience and 
drive improvements, with the most recent organization-wide survey conducted in October 2024. 

• Fostering associate development by providing a wide variety of growth and development opportunities throughout 
associates’ careers.   This includes structured development programs, access to online skill development platforms, 
stretch assignments, internal career pathing, self-awareness exercises, and active coaching. The Company also uses 
leadership standards to help associates identify the core behaviors essential for their career growth, as well as personal 
growth, on their journey at the Company. Resources in support of these efforts include the Company’s internal job 
board, which empowers associates to apply for open roles and/or to seek advancement opportunities within the 
Company, as well as formalized talent reviews to discuss associate development opportunities.

• Creating a culture of belonging and working to ensure that all our associates feel respected and represented. We 
believe that when we do this, we are stronger across every aspect of our business. The Company follows core 
principles to embed a sense of community into our organization, including having a workforce that reflects the 
communities we serve, building a leadership team that is representative of our workforce, offering voluntary training and 
inviting all associates to participate in any of our various associate resource groups to promote inclusion and belonging, 
and driving fairness through our compensation and benefits offerings.

• Encouraging community involvement of its associates by promoting various charitable, philanthropic, and social 
awareness programs, which the Company believes fosters a collaborative and rewarding work environment. The 
Company provides support to global organizations in the form of cash donations, volunteerism and in-kind support. In 
partnership with its vendor partners, customers and associates, the Company is proud to support community partners 
serving youth, teens, and young adults with a focus on mental health and wellness, empowerment, and inclusion. The 
Company offers its associates a paid volunteer day each year for eligible volunteer work. 

• Focusing on the health and safety of its associates by investing in various wellness programs that are designed to 
enhance the physical, financial, and mental well-being of its associates globally. The Company provides benefits-eligible 
associates and their families with access to free and confidential counseling through our Employee Assistance Program, 
as well as free access to a mediation and mindfulness app. The Company also provides regular programming on 
financial planning and mental health. 

Associates

The Company employed approximately 39,200 associates globally as of February 1, 2025, of whom approximately 32,600 were 
part-time associates. As of February 1, 2025, the Company employed approximately  31,400  associates in the U.S., and 
employed approximately 7,800 associates outside of the U.S. The Company employs temporary, seasonal associates at times, 
particularly during Fall, when it experiences its greatest sales activity due to back-to-school and holiday sales periods.  

The proportion of associates represented by works councils and unions is not significant and is generally limited to associates in 
the Company’s European stores. 

Board Oversight

A&F’s Board of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) and its committees oversee human capital matters. The Compensation and 
Human Capital Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the Company’s overall compensation structure, policies and 
programs, as well as administration of the Company’s cash-based and equity-based performance award programs. Members of 
the Board of Directors also review succession plans for the Company’s executive officers and discuss with senior leadership the 
Company’s human capital management strategies, programs, policies and practices, including those relating to organizational 
structure and key reporting relationships, along with development of strategies and practices relating to recruitment, retention 
and development of the Company’s associates as needed. Additionally, the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee of 
the Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of risks associated with our environmental and social strategies. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
Investing in our securities involves risk. The following risk factors should be read carefully in connection with evaluating our 
business and the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any of these risk factors could lead 
to material adverse effects on our business, operating results and financial condition. Additional risks and uncertainties not 
currently known to us or that we currently do not view as material may also become materially adverse to our business in future 
periods or if circumstances change.

MACROECONOMIC AND INDUSTRY RISKS.

Failure to engage our customers, anticipate customer demand and changing fashion trends, and manage our inventory 
commensurately could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Our success largely depends on our ability to anticipate and gauge the fashion preferences of our customers and provide 
merchandise that satisfies constantly shifting demands in a timely manner. Because we may enter into agreements for the 
manufacture and purchase of merchandise well in advance of the applicable selling season, we are vulnerable to changes in 
consumer preferences and demand, pricing shifts, and the sub-optimal selection and timing of merchandise purchases. We 
expect continuously changing fashion-related trends and consumer tastes to influence future demand for our products. Changes 
in consumer tastes, fashion trends and brand reputation can have an impact on our financial performance.

Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will continue to anticipate consumer demands and macroeconomic events or to be 
successful in accurately planning inventory in the future. Changing consumer preferences, spending patterns, and fashion 
trends, and our ability to anticipate, identify and swiftly respond to them, could adversely impact our sales. Inventory levels for 
certain merchandise styles no longer considered to be “on trend” may increase, leading to higher markdowns to sell through 
excess inventory and, therefore, lower than planned margins. Conversely, if we underestimate consumer demand for our 
merchandise, or if our manufacturers fail to supply quality products in a timely manner, we may experience inventory shortages 
that we cannot adequately mitigate through expedited inventory production and delivery, which may negatively impact customer 
relationships, diminish brand loyalty and result in lost sales. 

We could also be at a competitive disadvantage if we are unable to effectively leverage data analytics to retrieve timely, customer 
insights to appropriately respond to customer demands and improve customer engagement through efforts such as marketing 
activities. Any of these events could significantly harm our operating results and financial condition.

We are also vulnerable to factors affecting inventory flow and availability of inventory. Impacts may be caused by natural 
disasters, unanticipated climate patterns and events, or inventory shrinkage due to theft (including by our employees, customers, 
or through organized retail crime). Such events may significantly impact anticipated customer demand or may impact availability 
of our inventory. If we are not able to adjust appropriately to such factors, our inventory management may be negatively affected, 
which could adversely impact our performance and our reputation.

Our failure to operate effectively in a highly competitive and constantly evolving industry could have a material adverse impact on 
our business.

The sale of apparel, personal care products and accessories for men, women and kids is a highly competitive business with 
numerous participants, including individual and chain specialty apparel retailers, local, regional, national and global department 
stores, discount stores, digitally-native brands, and online-exclusive businesses. Proliferation of the digital channel has 
encouraged the entry of many new competitors and an increase in competition from established companies. These increases in 
competition could reduce our ability to retain and grow sales, resulting in an adverse impact to our operating results and 
business.

We face a variety of challenges in the highly competitive and constantly evolving retail industry, including:
• Anticipating and responding to changing consumer shopping preferences more quickly than our competitors;
• Maintaining favorable brand recognition;
• Effectively marketing our products to consumers across varying demographic markets, including through social media 

platforms which have become increasingly important in order to stay connected to our customers, as our digital sales 
penetration has increased. Individual country laws and regulations governing the use and availability of these social 
media platforms continue to evolve, and if we are unable to effectively use social media platforms as marketing tools our 
ability to retain or acquire customers and our financial condition may suffer;

• Effectively establishing and maintaining relationships with key brand representatives, influencers, athletes, and other 
celebrities as part of our marketing strategy to promote our brands and products; 

• Retaining customers, including our loyalty club members, and the resulting increased marketing costs to acquire new 
customers;

• Developing innovative, high-quality merchandise in styles that appeal to consumers and in ways that favorably distinguish 
us from our competitors; 

• Operating in a highly promotional retail environment;
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• Engaging in promotional activity and appropriately pricing our products without diminishing the aspirational nature of our 
brands and brand equity; and 

• Identifying and assessing disruptive innovation, by existing or new competitors, that could alter the competitive landscape 
by: improving the customer experience and heightening customer expectations; transforming supply chain and corporate 
operations through changes to digital technologies and innovations, including the use of artificial intelligence (“AI”) and 
machine learning; and enhancing management decision-making through use of data analytics to develop new, consumer 
insights. 

In light of the competitive challenges we face, we may not be able to compete successfully in the future. 

Changes in global economic and financial conditions, including the impact on consumer confidence and spending, could have a 
material adverse impact on our business.

Uncertainty as to, and the state of, the global economy and global financial condition could have an adverse effect on our 
operating results and business. Our business is subject to factors that are impacted by worldwide economic conditions, including 
heightened inflation levels (which has occurred), unemployment levels, consumer credit availability, consumer debt levels, 
reductions in consumer net worth based on declines in the financial, residential real estate and mortgage markets, bank failures, 
sales and personal income tax rates, fuel and energy prices, global food supplies, rising or uncertain interest rates, new 
increased tariffs, trade disputes, consumer confidence in future economic and political conditions, consumer perceptions of 
personal well-being and security, the value of the U.S. dollar versus foreign currencies, geopolitical conflicts, and other 
macroeconomic factors. Changes in global economic and financial conditions could impact our ability to fund growth and our 
ability to access external financing in the credit and capital markets.

In addition, our business depends on consumer demand for our merchandise. Consumer confidence and discretionary spending 
habits, including purchases of our merchandise, can be adversely impacted by recessionary periods, inflation and other 
macroeconomic conditions adversely impacting levels of disposable income. We may not be able to accurately anticipate or 
predict consumer demand and behavior, such as taste and purchasing trends, in response to adverse economic conditions, 
which could result in lower sales, excess inventories and increased mark-downs, all of which could negatively impact our ability 
to achieve or maintain profitability. In the event that the U.S. and global economy worsens, or if there is a decline in consumer 
spending levels or other unfavorable conditions, we could experience lower than expected revenues, which could force us to 
delay or slow the implementation of our growth strategies and adversely impact our results of operations.

The economic conditions and factors described above could adversely impact our results of operations, liquidity and capital 
resources, and may exacerbate other risks within this section of “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS”.

The impact of war, acts of terrorism, mass casualty events, social unrest, civil disturbance or disobedience could have a material 
adverse impact on our business.

In the past, the impact of war, acts of terrorism, mass casualty events, social unrest, civil disturbance or disobedience and the 
associated heightened security measures taken in response to these events have disrupted commerce. Further events of this 
nature, domestic or abroad, including international and domestic unrest, may disrupt commerce and undermine consumer 
confidence and consumer spending by causing a decline in traffic, store closures and a decrease in digital demand adversely 
affecting our operating results.

Furthermore, the existence or threat of any other unforeseen interruption of commerce, including as a result of geopolitical or 
armed conflict and the possible interference with international trade, supplier deliveries, freight costs, or tariffs, could negatively 
impact our business by interfering with the availability of raw materials or our ability to obtain merchandise from foreign 
manufacturers. With a substantial portion of our merchandise being imported from foreign countries, failure to obtain 
merchandise from our foreign manufacturers or substitute other manufacturers, at similar costs and in a timely manner, could 
adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and our ability to mitigate the effects of such volatility could have a material 
adverse impact on our business.

Due to our global operations, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect to our sales, profits, assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries transact in currencies other 
than their functional currency, including intercompany transactions, which results in foreign currency transaction gains or losses. 
Furthermore, we purchase substantially all of our inventory in U.S. dollars. As a result, our sales, gross profit and gross profit rate 
from global operations will be negatively impacted during periods of a strengthened U.S. dollar relative to the functional 
currencies of our foreign subsidiaries. Additionally, changes in the effectiveness of our hedging instruments may negatively 
impact our ability to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. For example, changes in 
inventory purchase assumptions have resulted in changes in the effectiveness to certain of our hedging instruments, and we 
could see similar impacts in future periods.
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Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely impact consumer spending, delay or prevent successful 
penetration into new markets or adversely affect the profitability of our global operations. Certain events could cause uncertainty 
with respect to trade policies, tariffs and government regulations and actions affecting trade between the U.S. and other 
countries, have increased global economic and political uncertainty in recent years and could result in volatility of foreign 
currency exchange rates as these events develop. 

Our ability to attract customers to our stores depends, in part, on the success of the shopping malls or area attractions that our 
stores are located in or around.

Our stores are primarily located in shopping malls and other shopping centers. Our sales at these stores are partially dependent 
upon the volume of traffic in those shopping centers and the surrounding area which, for some centers, has been in decline. Our 
stores may benefit from the ability of a shopping center’s other tenants and area attractions to generate consumer traffic in the 
vicinity of our stores and the continuing popularity of the shopping center. We cannot control the loss of a significant tenant in a 
shopping mall or area attraction, the development of new shopping malls in the U.S. or around the world, the availability or cost 
of appropriate locations, the success of individual shopping malls, or the increasing impact of digital channels on shopping mall 
traffic and there is competition with other retailers for prominent locations. 

All of these factors may impact our ability to meet our productivity or our growth objectives for our stores and could have a 
material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations. Part of our future growth is dependent on our ability to 
operate stores in desirable locations, with capital investment and lease costs providing the opportunity to earn a reasonable 
return. We cannot be sure when or whether such desirable locations will become available at reasonable costs.

The impact of natural disasters, negative climate patterns, public health crises, political crises and other unexpected and 
catastrophic events could result in interruptions to our operations, as well as to the operations of our third-party partners, and 
have a material adverse impact on our business.

Our retail stores, corporate offices, distribution centers, infrastructure projects and digital operations, as well as the operations of 
our vendors and manufacturers, are vulnerable to disruption from natural disasters, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, 
earthquakes, extreme cold events, unseasonably warm weather, and other adverse weather events; negative climate patterns, 
such as those in domestic and global water-stressed regions; public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics; political 
crises, such as terrorists attacks, war, geopolitical uncertainty, labor, unrest, and other political instability (including, without 
limitation, the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle East); significant power interruptions or 
outages; and other unexpected, catastrophic events. These events could disrupt the operations of our corporate offices, global 
stores and supply chain and those of our third-party partners, including our vendors and manufacturers. In addition to immediate 
impacts on global operations, these events could result in a reduction in the availability and quality, and as a result pricing 
volatility of, raw materials used to manufacture our merchandise, delays in merchandise fulfillment and deliveries, loss of 
customers and revenues due to store closures and inability to respond to customer demand, increased costs to meet consumer 
demand (which we may not be able to pass on to customers), reduced consumer confidence or changes in consumers’ 
discretionary spending habits.

Other factors that would negatively impact our ability to successfully operate due to the impact of natural disasters, negative 
climate patterns, public health crises, political crises, significant power interruptions or outages, and other unexpected, 
catastrophic events and other unexpected and other catastrophic events include, but are not limited to:  

• Supply chain delays due to closed or reduced capacity for trade routes and factories, reduced workforces, or scarcity of 
raw materials;  

• Physical losses to our stores, distribution centers or offices that may incur costs that exceed our applicable insurance 
coverage for any necessary repairs to damages or business disruptions caused by natural disasters or other 
unexpected and catastrophic events;    

• Our ability to keep our stores open if there are severe weather or climate conditions, stay-at-home orders, social 
distancing requirement, travel restrictions, or other concerns related to physical safety; 

• Our ability to attract customers to our stores, given the risks, or perceived risks, of gathering in public places;
• Delays in, or our ability to complete, planned store openings on the expected terms or timing, or at all based on 

shortages in labor and materials and delays in the production and delivery of materials; 
• Our ability to preserve liquidity to be able to take advantage of market conditions during periods of uncertainty and 

instability in the global financial markets; and 
• Difficulty accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, during periods of uncertainty and instability in 

the global financial markets, or a deterioration in credit and financing conditions may affect our access to capital 
necessary to fund business operations or address maturing liabilities.  

Historically, our operations have been seasonal, and natural disasters or unseasonable weather conditions, may diminish 
demand for our seasonal merchandise and could also influence consumer preferences and fashion trends, consumer traffic and 
shopping habits. In addition, to the extent natural disasters cause physical losses to our stores, distribution centers or offices, we 
may incur costs that exceed our applicable insurance coverage for any necessary repairs to damages or business disruption.
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STRATEGIC RISKS.

Changes to our long-term business strategy or a failure to successfully execute on our long-term strategic plans could adversely 
impact our financial condition and reputation.

While we have successfully executed certain goals in our Always Forward Plan, our continued ability to effectively execute on 
and maintain the results of our Always Forward Plan is subject to various risks and uncertainties as described herein. In addition, 
we may modify or adjust future long-term strategies to meet changes in our business environment.

While we believe that our successful execution and ability to attain certain established goals and targets of our Always Forward 
Plan led to long-term revenue growth and profitability, there is no assurance regarding the extent to which we will realize the 
anticipated objectives or sustain the financial objectives, if at all, or regarding the timing of such anticipated benefits. Our failure 
to realize the anticipated objectives or sustain the financial objectives established in our long-term strategic plans, which may be 
due to our inability to execute established long-term target or goals, changes in consumer demand, competition, macroeconomic 
conditions (including inflation or tariffs), retention of key talent, and other risks described herein, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. 

If the continued execution and maintenance of our long-term business strategy is not successful, or we do not realize the full 
objectives to the extent or in the timeline that we anticipate, our financial condition and reputation could be adversely affected. 

Our failure to attract, retain, and effectively manage strategic partnerships with third parties could have a material adverse impact 
on our business.

In order to compete in this highly competitive and constantly evolving industry, at times, we may enter into new strategic 
partnerships with third parties to expand our global brand reach, or we may launch new concepts or brands to expand our 
portfolio. Such strategic partnerships may include wholesale, franchise, or licensing arrangements in which we license our 
brands and intellectual property for use on products produced, marketed and/or sold by third parties, and licensing arrangements 
in which we license intellectual property from third parties. Such arrangements are subject to additional risks, including our ability 
to comply with obligations under license agreements that we have with third-party licensors, the abrupt termination of such 
arrangements, or actions taken by third-party wholesale, franchise, or licensee partners that may materially diminish the value of 
our intellectual property or our brands’ reputations. 

These initiatives, and others that we may engage in to respond to the highly competitive and evolving industry in which we 
operate, could result in significant financial and operational investments that do not provide the anticipated benefits or desired 
rates of return and there can be no guarantee that pursuing these investments or strategic partnerships will result in improved 
operating results.

Our failure to evaluate and manage our global store network could have a material adverse impact on our business.

With the evolution of digital and omnichannel capabilities, customer expectations have shifted and there has been greater 
pressure for a seamless omnichannel experience across all channels.  Through our multi-year global store network optimization 
initiative, we have taken actions to optimize our store productivity by remodeling, right-sizing or relocating stores to smaller 
square footage locations, and closing legacy stores. Modernizing and growing our store fleet is an important part of our business 
strategy and failure to evaluate and manage our global store network could have an adverse impact on our results of operations. 

The ability to modify existing leases, to remodel or repurpose existing locations, and to open new stores experiences requires 
partnership with our landlords. If our partnerships with our landlords were to deteriorate, this could adversely affect the pace of 
opening new store experiences and/or lead to an increase in store closures. In addition, if there is an increase in events such as 
landlord bankruptcies, or mall foreclosures, competition between retailers could increase for remaining suitable store locations. 
Pursuing the wrong opportunities and any delays, cost increases, disruptions or other uncertainties related to those opportunities 
could adversely affect our results of operations. If our investments in new stores or remodeling and right-sizing existing stores do 
not achieve appropriate returns, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Although we attempt to open new stores in prominent locations, it is possible that locations which were prominent when we 
opened our stores may lose favor over time. 
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Our failure to realize the anticipated benefits of our recent transition to a regional-based organizational model could have a 
negative impact on our business.

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, to drive ongoing brand growth and leverage the knowledge and experience of its 
regional teams, the Company reorganized its structure and now primarily manages its business on a geographic basis, 
consisting of three reportable segments: Americas; Europe; the Middle East and Africa (EMEA) and Asia-Pacific (APAC). As a 
result of our regional-based organizational model, we have decentralized execution of our commercial strategy in each 
international region from our global home office to our regional headquarters located in Shanghai, China and London, United 
Kingdom. Failure to realize the anticipated benefits of our recent transition to a regional-based organizational model could have a 
negative impact on our business. In addition, realization of the anticipated benefits of this new regional-based organizational 
model is dependent on the effectiveness of this new operating structure.

Our inability to effectively conduct business in global markets, including as a result of legal, tax, regulatory, political and 
economic risks could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We operate on a global basis and are subject to risks associated with operating in different global markets that could have a 
material adverse effect on our reputation, business and results of operations if we fail to address them.

Such risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
• addressing the different operational requirements present in each country in which we operate, including those related to 

employment and labor, transportation, logistics, real estate, lease provisions and local reporting or legal requirements;
• supporting global growth by successfully implementing local customer and product-facing teams and certain corporate 

support functions at our regional headquarters located in Shanghai, China and London, United Kingdom;
• supporting global growth by decentralizing execution of our commercial strategy authority from our global home office to 

our regional headquarters located in Shanghai, China and London, United Kingdom;
• hiring, training and retaining qualified personnel;
• maintaining good labor relations with individual associates and groups of associates;
• avoiding work stoppages or other labor-related issues in our European stores, where some associates are represented 

by workers’ councils and unions;
• retaining acceptance from local customers;
• managing inventory effectively to meet the needs of existing stores on a timely basis; 
• political, civil and social unrest, such as the conflict between Russia and Ukraine or conflict in the Middle East;
• government regulations affecting trade between the U.S. and other countries, including tariffs and customs laws; 
• tax rate volatility and our ability to realize tax benefits resulting from non-U.S. operations;  
• managing foreign currency exchange rate risks effectively;
• substantial investments of time and resources in our global operations may not result in achievement of acceptable levels 

of returns; for example, we have experienced year-over-year declines in revenues from our global operations; and 
• continued and sustained declines in our global revenues could lead to store closures, restructuring costs, and impairment 

losses, all of which could adversely impact our business, profitability, and results of operations.

We are subject to domestic laws related to global operations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, in addition to the laws 
of the foreign countries in which we operate. If any of our overseas operations, or our associates or agents, violate such laws, we 
could become subject to sanctions or other penalties that could negatively affect our reputation, business and operating results. 

Our failure to appropriately address environmental, social, and governance (ESG) topics could have a material adverse impact 
on our reputation and, as a result, our business.

There is increased focus from certain government regulators, investors, customers, associates, business partners and other 
stakeholders concerning ESG matters. 

The expectations related to ESG matters continue to rapidly evolve and diverge. The focus by investors and other stakeholders 
on the ESG practices of publicly traded companies, like us, has included or may in the future include expanding mandatory and 
voluntary reporting, diligence, and disclosure on topics such as climate change, human capital, labor and risk oversight, and 
could expand the nature, scope, and complexity of matters that we are required to control, assess and report. Furthermore, if we 
announce certain initiatives and goals related to ESG matters we could fail, or be perceived to fail, to accurately set, meet or 
report our progress on such initiatives and goals and/or we could fail, or be perceived to fail, to act responsibly in our ESG 
efforts. In addition, we could be criticized for the speed of adoption of such initiatives and goals, or the scope of such initiatives or 
goals. As a result, we could suffer negative publicity and our reputation could be adversely impacted, which in turn could have a 
negative impact on investor perception and our products' acceptance by consumers. In addition, in recent years there has been 
a rise in the prevalence of the anti-ESG movement, and we could be criticized for the scope or nature of our ESG initiatives and 
goals or for any revisions to our goals. We may not be able to meet the diverging expectations and perspectives on these topics, 
and we could be subjected to negative responses by consumers (such as boycotts or negative publicity campaigns) that could 
adversely affect our reputation, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. This may also impact our ability to attract 
and retain talent to compete in the marketplace
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There is also uncertainty regarding the implementation of laws, regulations, and policies related to ESG and global 
environmental sustainability matters, including disclosure obligations and reporting on such matters, and appropriately 
responding to potentially competing and/or contradictory regulatory requirements and expectations in the jurisdictions in which 
we operate. Changes in the legal or regulatory environment affecting ESG disclosure, responsible sourcing, supply chain 
transparency, or environmental protection, among others, including regulations to limit carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas 
emissions, to discourage the use of plastic or to limit or to impose additional costs on commercial water use may result in 
increased costs for us and our business partners, all of which may negatively impact our results of operations, financial condition 
and cash flows.

OPERATIONAL RISKS.

Failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Our ability to maintain our reputation is critical and public perception about our products or operations, whether justified or not, 
could impair our reputation, involve us in litigation, damage our brands and have a material adverse impact on our business. 

Events that could jeopardize our reputation, include, but are not limited to, the following:
• We fail to maintain high standards for merchandise quality and integrity;
• We fall victim to a cyber-attack, resulting in customer data being compromised;
• We fail to comply with ethical, social, product, labor, health and safety, legal, accounting or environmental standards, or 

related political considerations;
• Third parties with which we have a business relationship, including our brand representatives and influencer network, 

and our wholesale, franchise licensing, or marketplace partners, fail to represent our brands in a manner consistent with 
our brand image or act in a way that harms their reputation; 

• Misconduct or illegal activities by our current and former associates, directors, advisors, third-party business partners, 
or others affiliated, or perceived to be affiliated, with the Company;

• Third-party vendors fail to comply with our Vendor Code of Conduct or any third parties with which we have a business 
relationship fail to represent our brands in a manner consistent with our brand image;

• Unfavorable media publicity, influencer reviews on social media, or negative consumer perception of our products, 
operations, brand or experience; and

• Our position or perceived lack of position on ESG topics, public policy or other similar issues and any perceived lack of 
transparency about those matters.

In addition, in recent years there has been an increase in media platforms, particularly, social media and our use of social media 
platforms is an important element of our omnichannel marketing efforts. For example, we maintain various social media accounts 
for our brands, including Instagram, TikTok, Facebook, X (f/k/a Twitter), SnapChat, and Pinterest accounts. Negative publicity or 
actions taken by individuals that we partner with, such as brand representatives, influencers or our associates, that fail to 
represent our brands in a manner consistent with our brand image or act in a way that harms their reputation, whether through 
our social media accounts or their own, could harm our brand reputation and materially impact our business. Social media also 
allows for anyone to provide public feedback, which could influence perceptions of our brands and reduce demand for our 
merchandise. 

Damage to our reputation and loss of consumer confidence for these or any other reasons could lead to adverse consumer 
actions, including boycotts, have negative impacts on investor perception and could impact our ability to attract and retain the 
talent necessary to compete in the marketplace or to attract or retain business partners for third-party relationships such as 
licensing or franchise arrangements, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our business, as well as require 
additional resources to rebuild our reputation.

Failure to continue to successfully manage the complexities of our omnichannel operations and of our customers’ omnichannel 
shopping experience, or failure to continue to successfully invest in customer, digital and omnichannel initiatives could have a 
material adverse impact on our business.

As omnichannel retailing continues to evolve, our customers increasingly interact with our brands through a variety of digital and 
physical spaces, and expect seamless integration across all touchpoints. As our success depends on our ability to effectively 
manage the complexities of our omnichannel operations and of our customers’ omnichannel shopping experience, including our 
ability to respond to shifting consumer traffic patterns, receive and fulfill orders, and engage our customers, we have made 
significant investments and operational changes to develop our digital and omnichannel capabilities globally. Such investments 
and operational changes include the development of localized fulfillment, shipping and customer service operations, investments 
in digital media to attract new customers, and the rollout of omnichannel capabilities listed in “ITEM 1. BUSINESS” of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.
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While we must keep up to date with technology trends in the retail environment in order to manage our successful omnichannel 
shopping experience, it is possible these initiatives may not provide the anticipated benefits or desired rates of return. For 
example, we could be at a competitive disadvantage if we are unable to effectively collect data and leverage data analytics to 
retrieve timely, customer insights to appropriately respond to customer demands and improve customer engagement across 
channels or if innovative digital products and features we develop are not utilized or received by customers as anticipated.

In addition, digital operations are subject to numerous risks, including reliance on third-party computer hardware/software and 
service providers, data breaches, the variability of the rate of merchandise returns, violations of evolving government 
interpretations of laws and regulations, including those relating to online privacy, credit card fraud, telecommunication failures, 
electronic break-ins and similar compromises, and disruption of services. Changes in foreign governmental regulations and 
interpretations may also negatively impact our omnichannel operations, including our ability to accept orders and deliver product 
to our customers. Failure to successfully respond to these risks may adversely affect sales as well as damage the reputation of 
our brands.

If our information technology systems are disrupted or cease to operate effectively, it could have a material adverse impact on 
our business.

We rely heavily on our own information technology systems and on third-party information technology systems in both our 
customer-facing and corporate operations to: operate our websites and mobile apps; record and process transactions; respond 
to customer inquiries; manage inventory; purchase, sell and ship merchandise on a timely basis; maintain cost-efficient 
operations; create a customer relationship management database through our loyalty programs; and complete other customer-
facing and business objectives. Given the significant number of transactions that are completed annually, it is vital to maintain 
constant operation of our computer hardware, telecommunication systems and software systems, and maintain data security. 
Despite efforts to prevent such an occurrence, our information technology systems may be vulnerable, from time to time, to 
damage or interruption from computer viruses, power interruptions or outages or other system failures, third-party intrusions, 
inadvertent or intentional breaches by our associates, third-party service providers or business partners, or threat actors, and 
other technical malfunctions. Further, the sophistication, availability and use of AI by threat actors present an increased level of 
risk. If our systems are damaged, fail to function properly, or are outdated in comparison to those of our competition, we may 
have to make monetary investments to repairs or replace the systems and we could endure delays in our operations. We have 
made and expect to continue to make significant monetary investments and devote significant attention to modernizing our core 
systems, and the effectiveness of these investments can be less predictable than others and may fail to provide the expected 
benefits. Additionally, we rely on services provided by third-party vendors and platforms for certain information technology 
processes, including point-of-sale, digital operations, inventory management, supply chain, planning, sourcing, merchandising, 
payroll, scheduling, financial reporting, and managing third-party relationships, including our brand representatives and influencer 
network, and our wholesale, franchise licensing, or marketplace partners. This reliance on third parties makes our operations 
vulnerable to a failure by any one of these parties to perform adequately or maintain effective internal controls.

We regularly evaluate our information technology systems and requirements to ensure appropriate functionality and use in 
response to business demands. For example, in 2022, we began the multi-year process of upgrading our ERP system. We are 
continuing to execute this plan in Fiscal 2025 and currently anticipate implementation in Fiscal 2026. We are aware of the 
inherent risks associated with replacing and modifying these systems, including system disruptions, inaccurate system 
information, and user acceptance and understanding. Any material disruption or slowdown of our systems, including a disruption 
or slowdown caused by our failure to successfully upgrade or replace our systems could impact our ability to effectively manage 
and maintain our inventory, to ship products to customers on a timely basis, and may cause information to be lost or delayed, 
including data related to customer orders. Such a loss or delay, especially if the disruption or slowdown occurred during our peak 
selling seasons, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, the upgrading of our ERP system 
requires significant financial and operational investments, and such investments may not provide the anticipated benefits or 
desired rates of returns.

We may be exposed to risks and costs associated with cyber-attacks, data protection, credit card fraud and identity theft that 
could have a material adverse impact on our business.

In the standard course of business, we receive and maintain confidential information about customers, associates and other third 
parties. In addition, third parties also receive and maintain certain confidential information. The protection of this information is 
critical to our business and subjects us to numerous laws, rules and regulations domestically and in foreign jurisdictions. The 
retail industry in particular has been the target of many cyber-attacks and it is possible that an individual or group could defeat 
our security measures, or those of a third-party service provider or business partner, and access confidential information about 
our business, customers and associates. Further, like other companies in the retail industry, during the ordinary course of 
business, we and our vendors have in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, cyber-attacks of varying 
degrees and types, including phishing, and other attempts to breach, or gain unauthorized access to, our systems. To date, 
cyber-attacks have not had a material impact on our operations, but we cannot provide assurance that cyber-attacks will not 
have a material impact in the future.
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We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, increased costs associated with protecting confidential information 
through the implementation of security technologies, processes and procedures, including training programs for associates to 
raise awareness about phishing, malware and other cyber risks, especially as we implement new technologies, such as new 
payment capabilities or updates to our mobile apps and websites. Additionally, the techniques and sophistication used to conduct 
cyber-attacks and breaches of information technology systems change frequently and increase in complexity and are often not 
recognized until such attacks are launched or have been in place for a period of time. We (or the third parties on which we rely) 
may not have the resources or technical sophistication to sufficiently anticipate, prevent, or immediately identify and remediate 
cyber-attacks.

Furthermore, the global regulatory environment is increasingly complex and demanding with frequent new and changing 
requirements surrounding information security and privacy, including new regulations applicable to public companies in the 
United States, China’s Cybersecurity Law, the California Consumer Privacy Act, and the European Union’s General Data 
Protection Regulation. We may incur significant costs related to compliance with these laws and failure to comply with these 
regulatory standards, and others, could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We have also implemented a flexible work policy allowing most of our corporate associates to work remotely, from time to time, 
as have certain of our third-party vendors. Offsite working by associates, which requires increased use of public internet 
connection, and use of office equipment off premises may make our business more vulnerable to cybersecurity breach attempts, 
phishing and other scams, fraud, money laundering, theft and other criminal activity.

If we, or a third-party who has access to our info, were to fall victim to a successful cyber-attack or suffer intentional or 
unintentional data and security breaches by associates or third-parties, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, 
especially an event that compromises customer data or results in the unauthorized release of confidential business or customer 
information. In addition, if we are unable to avert a denial of service attack that renders our website inoperable, it could result in 
negative consequences, such as lost sales and customer dissatisfaction. Additional negative consequences that could result 
from these and similar events may include, but are not limited to:

• remediation costs, such as liability for stolen assets or information, potential legal settlements to affected parties, repairs 
of system damage, and incentives to customers or business partners in an effort to maintain relationships after an 
attack;

• increased cybersecurity protection costs, which may include the costs of making organizational changes, deploying 
additional personnel and protection technologies, training associates, and engaging third party experts and consultants;

• lost revenues resulting from the unauthorized use of proprietary information or the failure to retain or attract customers 
following an attack;

• litigation and legal risks, including costs of litigation and regulatory, fines, penalties or actions by domestic or 
international governmental authorities;

• increased insurance premiums, or the ability to obtain insurance on commercially reasonable terms;
• reputational damage that adversely affects customer or investor confidence; and
• damage to the Company’s competitiveness, stock price, and long-term shareholder value.

Although we maintain cybersecurity insurance, there can be no assurance that it will be sufficient for a specific cyber incident, or 
that insurance proceeds will be paid to us in a timely fashion. 

Changes in the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, transportation and labor, including changes due to trade relations 
could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Changes in the cost, availability and quality of the fabrics or other raw materials used to manufacture our merchandise could 
have a material adverse effect on our cost of sales, or our ability to meet customer demand. The prices for such fabrics depend 
largely on the market prices for the raw materials used to produce them, particularly cotton. The price and availability of such raw 
materials may fluctuate significantly, depending on many factors, including crop yields, weather patterns and other unforeseen 
events. For example, significant inflationary pressures have and may continue to impact the cost of labor, cotton and other raw 
materials. Increased global uncertainty has also impacted and may in the future impact the cost, availability and quality of the 
fabrics or other raw materials used to manufacture our merchandise, and compliance with sanctions, customs trade orders and 
sourcing laws could impact the price of cotton in the marketplace and the global supply chain.
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Fluctuations in the cost of transportation could also have a material adverse effect on our cost of sales and ability to meet 
customer demand. We primarily use six contract carriers to ship merchandise and related materials to our North American 
customers, and several contract carriers for our global customers. If the shipping operations of these third parties were disrupted, 
and we are unable to respond in a quick and efficient manner, our ability to replace inventory in our stores and process digital 
and third-party orders could be interrupted, potentially resulting in adverse impacts to sales or increased costs. Furthermore, we 
are susceptible to increases in fuel costs which may increase the cost of distribution. If we are not able to pass this cost on to our 
customers, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition, we have experienced increasing wage pressures in recent years related to the cost of labor at our third-party 
manufacturers, at our distribution centers and at our stores. For example, recent government initiatives in the U.S. or changes to 
existing laws, such as the adoption and implementation of national, state, or local government proposals relating to increases in 
minimum wage rates, may increase our costs of doing business and adversely affect our results of operations. We may not be 
able to pass all or a portion of higher labor costs on to our customers, which could adversely affect our gross margin and results 
of operations.

Changes in tax or tariff policy regarding merchandise produced in, and raw materials sourced from, certain countries could 
adversely affect our business.

A predominant portion of the merchandise we sell is originally manufactured in countries other than the United States. Refer to 
Note 6, “INVENTORIES,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary of inventory sourced based on vendor 
location during Fiscal 2024. Additionally, many of the raw materials used to manufacture our apparel is sourced internationally. 
International trade disputes that result in tariffs and other protectionist measures could adversely affect our business, including 
disruption and cost increases in our established patterns for sourcing raw materials and our merchandise and increased 
uncertainties in planning our sourcing strategies and forecasting our margins. For example, the United States has imposed 
significant new tariffs on China related to the importation of certain product categories. It is also possible that additional tariffs 
may be imposed on imports from other countries, including the foreign countries where our apparel is predominantly 
manufactured. The imposition of any such tariffs would likely increase the cost of our merchandise and negatively impact our 
operating results. Although such changes would have implications across the entire industry, we may fail to effectively adapt to 
and manage the adjustments in strategy that would be necessary in response to those changes. We are working with our current 
suppliers to mitigate our exposure to current or potential tariffs and seeking opportunities to engage other suppliers, but there 
can be no assurance that we will be able to offset any increased costs or secure other suppliers. 

In addition, other countries may change their business and trade policies in anticipation of or in response to the U.S.’s increased 
import tariffs and other changes in U.S. trade policy and regulations already enacted or that may be enacted in the future. 

In addition to the general uncertainty and overall risk from potential changes in trade laws and policies, as we make business 
decisions in the face of such uncertainty, we may incorrectly anticipate the outcomes, miss out on business opportunities, or fail 
to effectively adapt our business strategies and manage the adjustments that are necessary in response to those changes. 
These risks could adversely affect our revenues, reduce our profitability, and negatively impact our business.

We depend upon independent third parties for the manufacture and delivery of our merchandise, and a disruption of the 
manufacture or delivery of our merchandise could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We depend on third parties for the manufacture and delivery of our merchandise. As a result, the continued success of our 
operations is tied to our timely receipt of quality merchandise from third-party manufacturers. We source the majority of our 
merchandise outside of the U.S. through arrangements with approximately 150 vendors, primarily located in southeast Asia. 
Political, social or economic instability in the regions in which our manufacturers are located could cause disruptions in trade, 
including exports to the U.S. and EMEA. In addition, the inability of vendors to access liquidity, or the insolvency of vendors, 
could lead to their failure to deliver merchandise to us. A manufacturer’s inability to ship orders in a timely manner or meet our 
quality standards could cause delays in responding to consumer demand and negatively affect consumer confidence or 
negatively impact our competitive position, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and 
results of operations. 

For example, the attacks on cargo vessels in the Red Sea have resulted in delayed deliveries and increased freight costs, and a 
prolonged or escalating armed conflict may result in additional costs, including any impact from using air freight instead of ocean 
freight to mitigate inventory delays. It is possible that the adverse impact of these and future attacks, including additional costs 
associated with mitigation efforts, could materially adversely affect our business and results of operation.

All factories that we partner with are contractually required to adhere to the Company’s Vendor Code of Conduct, go through 
social audits which include on-site walk-throughs to appraise the physical working conditions and health and safety practices, 
and review payroll and age documentation. If these factories are unwilling or not able to meet the standards set forth within the 
Company’s Vendor Code of Conduct, it could limit the options available to us and could result in an increase of costs of 
manufacturing, which we may not be able to pass on to our customers.
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Other events that could disrupt the timely delivery of our merchandise include new trade law provisions or regulations, reliance 
on a limited number of shipping carriers and associated alliances, weather events, significant labor disputes, port congestion and 
other unexpected events.

Our reliance on our distribution centers makes us susceptible to disruptions or adverse conditions affecting our supply chain.

Our distribution center operations are susceptible to local and regional factors, such as system failures, accidents, labor 
disputes, economic and weather conditions, natural disasters, significant power interruptions or outages, demographic and 
population changes, and other unforeseen events and circumstances. We rely on both company-operated and third-party 
distribution centers to manage the receipt, storage, sorting, packing and distribution of our merchandise. If our distribution 
centers are not adequate to support our operations, including as a result of capacity constraints in response to an increase in 
digital sales or performance issues related to third-party management, the increased rate of merchandise returns, we could 
experience adverse impacts such as shipping delays and or customer dissatisfaction. In addition, if our distribution operations 
were disrupted due to, for example, labor shortages, natural disasters or power interruptions or outages, and we were unable to 
relocate operations or find other property adequate for conducting business, our ability to replace inventory in our stores and 
process digital and third-party orders could be interrupted, potentially resulting in adverse impacts to sales or increased costs. 
Refer to “ITEM 1. BUSINESS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for a listing of certain distribution centers on which we rely.

We rely on the experience and skills of our executive officers and associates, and the failure to attract or retain this talent, 
effectively manage succession, and establish a workforce that can best serve the communities in which we operate could have a 
material adverse impact on our business.

Our ability to succeed may be adversely impacted if we are not able to attract, retain and develop talent and future leaders, 
including our executive officers. We believe that the attraction,  retention and management of qualified talent is integral to our 
success in advancing our strategies and key business priorities and avoiding disruptions in our business. We rely on our 
associates across the organization, including those at  our  corporate offices,  stores  and distribution centers, as well as their 
experience and expertise in the retail business.  

Our executive officers closely supervise all aspects of our operations, have substantial experience and expertise in the retail 
business and have an integral role in the growth and success of our brands. If we were to lose the benefit of the involvement of 
our executive officers or other personnel, without adequate succession plans, our business could be adversely affected. 

In addition, if we are unable to attract and retain talent at the associate level, our business could be adversely impacted. 
Competition for such qualified talent is intense, and we cannot be sure that we will be able to attract, retain and develop a 
sufficient number of qualified individuals in future periods. In addition, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to find adequate 
temporary or seasonal personnel to staff our operations when needed. For example, as automation, AI and similar technological 
advancements continue to evolve, we may need to compete for talent that is familiar with these advancements in technologies in 
order to compete effectively with our industry peers. If we are not successful in these efforts, our business may be adversely 
affected. 

If we are not successful in these efforts or fail to successfully execute against the key human capital management initiatives 
discussed in “ITEM 1. BUSINESS” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our business could be adversely impacted.

If we identify a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, fail to remediate a material weakness, or fail to 
establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial 
results could be adversely affected.

The effectiveness of any controls or procedures is subject to certain inherent limitations, and as a result, there can be no 
assurance that our controls and procedures will prevent or detect misstatements. Even an effective system of internal control 
over financial reporting will provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. 
Also, projections of any evaluations of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

If we fail to remediate a material weakness, or are otherwise unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, 
management could be required to expend significant resources. Additionally, we could fail to meet our public reporting 
requirements on a timely basis, and be subject to fines, penalties, investigations or judgements, all of which could negatively 
affect investor confidence and adversely impact our stock price. 
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LEGAL, TAX, REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE RISKS.

Misconduct or illegal activities by our current and former associates, directors, advisers, third-party service providers or business 
partners, or others affiliated, or perceived to be affiliated, with the Company could subject to us to reputational harm, regulatory 
scrutiny or inquiries, or legal liability.

There is a risk that current or former associates, executives, directors, advisers, third party-service providers or business 
partners of the Company, or others who are actually or perceived to be affiliated with us, could engage, deliberately or recklessly, 
in misconduct or fraud that creates legal exposure for us and adversely affects our business. If such individuals were to engage, 
or be accused of engaging in, illegal or suspicious activities, sexual misconduct or harassment, racial or gender discrimination, 
improper use or disclosure of confidential information, fraud, payment or solicitation of bribes, or any other type of similar 
misconduct or violation of other laws and regulations, during their employment or service with us, we could suffer serious harm to 
our brand, reputation, be subject to penalties or sanctions, suffer serious harm to our financial position and current and future 
business relationships, and face potentially significant litigation or investigations. 

In particular, Michael Jeffries, who served as chief executive officer of the Company from 1992 to 2014, has been accused of 
sexual abuse and exploitation, which accusations include claims relating to behavior that is alleged to have occurred during his 
prior tenure with us. Criminal charges have been filed against Mr. Jeffries, and there are multiple pending civil actions against Mr. 
Jeffries and the Company that relate to this alleged behavior. Although we believe the claims against us are without merit, the 
allegations against this former executive, as well as the claims brought against us, have resulted in negative media attention and 
may result in additional litigation or may result in other adverse consequences to our reputation, brand, and business. In addition, 
in March 2024 and March 2025, the Delaware Court of Chancery ruled that Mr. Jeffries was entitled to advancement by the 
Company of his defense costs for the civil litigation and for his defense costs for the criminal prosecution against him, 
respectively.

Fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility in our results of operations could have a material 
adverse impact on our business.

We are subject to income taxes in many U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. In addition, our products are subject to import and excise 
duties and/or sales, consumption or value-added taxes (“VAT”) in many jurisdictions. We record tax expense based on our 
estimates of future payments, which include reserves for estimates of probable settlements of foreign and domestic tax audits. At 
any time, many tax years are subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. The results of these audits and negotiations with 
taxing authorities may affect the ultimate settlement of these issues. As a result, we expect that throughout the year, there could 
be ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as taxable events occur and exposures are evaluated. In addition, our effective 
tax rate in any given financial reporting period may be materially impacted by changes in the mix and level of earnings or losses 
by taxing jurisdictions or by changes to existing accounting rules or regulations. Fluctuations in duties could also have a material 
impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”), along with members of its inclusive framework, have, 
through the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting project, proposed changes to numerous long-standing tax principles (“Pillar Two 
Rules”). Although the U.S. effectively withdrew from the OECD global tax agreement in January 2025, other countries where the 
Company does business, including the U.K. and Germany, have enacted legislation implementing Pillar Two Rules, which are 
effective from January 1, 2024. The implementation of the Pillar Two Rules in each jurisdiction in which the Company operates 
did not have a material impact on its effective tax rate for Fiscal 2024, and the Company does not project a material impact on 
the effective tax rate for Fiscal 2025.

In some global markets, we are required to withhold and remit VAT to the appropriate local tax authorities. Failure to correctly 
calculate or remit the appropriate amounts could subject us to substantial fines and penalties that could have an adverse effect 
on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

In the past, tax law has been enacted, domestically and abroad, impacting our current or future tax structure and effective tax 
rate, such as the Inflation Reduction Act in the U.S. Tax law may be enacted in the future, domestically or abroad, that impacts 
our current or future tax structure and effective tax rate.

Litigation and any future stockholder activism could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We, along with third parties we do business with, are involved, from time to time, in litigation arising in the ordinary course of 
business. Litigation matters may include, but are not limited to, contract disputes, employment-related actions, alleged 
misconduct by current or former associates, labor relations, commercial litigation, intellectual property rights, privacy litigation, 
product safety, environmental matters and shareholder actions. 
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Litigation, in general, may be expensive and disruptive. We cannot predict with certainty the outcomes of these legal proceedings 
and other contingencies, and the costs incurred in litigation can be substantial, regardless of the outcome. Substantial 
unanticipated verdicts, fines and rulings do sometimes occur. As a result, we could, from time to time, incur judgments, enter into 
settlements, or revise our expectations regarding the outcome of certain matters, and such developments could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the amounts are accrued and/or our cash flows in the period in 
which the amounts are paid. The outcome of some of these legal proceedings and other contingencies could require us to take, 
or refrain from taking, actions which could negatively affect our operations and, depending on the nature of the allegations, could 
negatively impact our reputation. Additionally, defending against these legal proceedings may involve significant expense and 
diversion of management’s attention and resources.

Stockholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, remains popular with many public investors. 
Due to the volatility of our stock price and for a variety of other reasons, we may become the target of securities litigation 
or stockholder activism. Responding to stockholder activists’ campaigns may involve significant expense and diversion of 
management’s attention and resources without yielding any improvement in our results of operations or financial condition.

Failure to adequately protect and enforce our intellectual property, or failure to adequately ensure that we are not infringing the 
intellectual property rights of others, could have a negative impact on our brand image and limit our ability to penetrate new 
markets which could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We believe our core trademarks, Abercrombie & Fitch®, abercrombie®, Hollister®, Gilly Hicks®, and the “Moose” and “Seagull” 
logos, are essential to the effective implementation of our strategy. We have obtained or applied for federal registration of these 
trademarks with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and the registries of countries in key markets within the Company’s 
owned and operated sales and distribution channels, and those in which the Company’s franchise, wholesale, and licensing 
partners have sales and distribution rights. In addition, these trademarks are either registered, or the Company has applications 
for registration pending, with the registries of many of the foreign countries in which the manufacturers of the Company’s 
products are located. There can be no assurance that we will obtain registrations that have been applied for or that the 
registrations we obtain will prevent the imitation of our products or infringement of our intellectual property rights by others. 
Although brand security initiatives are in place, we cannot guarantee that our efforts against the infringement or counterfeiting of 
our brands will be successful. If a third party copies our products in a manner that projects lesser quality or carries a negative 
connotation, our brand image could be materially adversely affected.

Because we have not yet registered all of our trademarks in all categories, or in all foreign countries in which we source or offer 
our merchandise now, or may in the future, our global expansion and our merchandising of products using these marks could be 
limited. The pending applications for international registration of various trademarks could be challenged or rejected in those 
countries because third parties of whom we are not currently aware have already registered similar marks in those countries. 
Accordingly, it may be possible, in those foreign countries where the status of various applications is pending or unclear, for a 
third-party owner of the national trademark registration for a similar mark to prohibit the manufacture, sale or exportation of 
branded goods in or from that country. Failure to register our trademarks or purchase or license the right to use our trademarks 
or logos in these jurisdictions could limit our ability to obtain supplies from, or manufacture in, less costly markets or penetrate 
new markets should our business plan include selling our merchandise or granting rights to our franchise, wholesale, and 
licensing partners in those non-U.S. jurisdictions.

In addition, if third parties successfully claim we infringe their intellectual property rights, we may be subject to liability, be 
prevented from using our trademarks or other intellectual property rights, or be obligated to remove this merchandise from our 
inventory, which could have an adverse effect on our financial conditions and operations. Defending infringement claims could be 
expensive and time consuming and might result in our incurring additional costs, entering into costly license agreements, actions 
to recover unpaid royalty fees, or other settlement agreements. These risks may be magnified if we increase our use of licensing 
arrangements or partnerships with third parties.

Changes in the regulatory or compliance landscape could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We are subject to numerous domestic and foreign laws and regulations, including those related to customs, truth-in-advertising, 
securities, environmental and social disclosures, consumer protection, general privacy, health information privacy, identity theft, 
online privacy, general employment, employee health and safety, minimum wages, unsolicited commercial communication and 
zoning and occupancy laws, as well as ordinances that regulate retailers generally and/or govern the importation, intellectual 
property, promotion and sale of merchandise and the operation of retail stores, digital operations and distribution centers. If these 
laws and regulations were to change, or were violated by our management, associates, suppliers, vendors or other parties with 
whom we do business, the costs of certain merchandise could increase, or we could experience delays in shipments of our 
merchandise, be subject to fines or penalties, temporary or permanent store closures, or increased regulatory scrutiny or suffer 
reputational harm, which could reduce demand for our merchandise and adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
Any changes in regulations, the imposition of additional regulations, or the enactment of any new or more stringent legislation 
including the areas referenced above, could adversely affect our business and results of operations. 

Table of Contents

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 23 2024 Form 10-K



Laws and regulations at the local, state, federal and various global levels frequently change, and the ultimate cost of compliance 
cannot be precisely estimated. Changes in the legal or regulatory environment affecting responsible sourcing, supply chain 
transparency, or environmental protection, among others, may result in increased compliance costs for us and our business 
partners. Additionally, we may face regulatory challenges in complying with applicable global sanctions and trade regulations and 
reputational challenges with our consumers and other stakeholders if we are unable to sufficiently verify the origins of material 
sourced for the manufacture of our products.

In addition, we are subject to a variety of regulatory and reporting requirements, including, but not limited to, those related to 
corporate governance and public disclosure. Stockholder activism, the current political environment, financial reform legislation, 
government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations. New 
requirements or changes in current regulatory reporting requirements may introduce additional complexities, lead to additional 
compliance costs, divert management’s time and attention from strategic business activities, and could have a significant effect 
on our reported results for the affected periods. Failure to comply with such regulations could result in fines, penalties, or lawsuits 
and could have a material adverse impact on our business.

The agreements related to A&F Management’s senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility includes restrictive covenants 
that limit our flexibility in operating our business and our inability to obtain additional credit on reasonable terms in the future 
could have an adverse impact on our business.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “ABL Credit Agreement”) of Abercrombie & Fitch Management 
Co. (“A&F Management”), a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of A&F, provides for a senior secured asset-based revolving credit 
facility of up to $500 million (the “ABL Facility”), which matures on August 2, 2029. The agreements related to the ABL Facility 
contain restrictive covenants that, subject to specified exemptions, restrict, among other things, the ability of the Company and its 
subsidiaries to: incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness; grant or incur liens; sell or otherwise dispose of assets, 
including capital stock of subsidiaries; make investments in certain subsidiaries; pay dividends or make distributions on our 
capital stock; redeem or repurchase capital stock; change the nature of our business; and consolidate or merge with or into, or 
sell substantially all of the assets of the Company or A&F Management to another entity. 

If an event of default under either related agreement occurs, any outstanding obligations under the ABL Facility could be 
declared immediately due and payable or the lenders or noteholders could foreclose on or exercise other remedies with respect 
to the assets securing the indebtedness under the ABL Facility. In addition, there is no assurance that we would have the cash 
resources available to repay such accelerated obligations. Moreover, the ABL Facility is secured by certain of our real property, 
inventory, intellectual property, general intangibles and receivables, among other things, and lenders may exercise remedies 
against the collateral in an event of default. 

We may, from time to time, incur indebtedness. There can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain sufficient funds to 
enable us to repay or refinance any future obligations on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Changes in market conditions 
could potentially impact the size and terms of a replacement facility or facilities in the future. The inability to obtain credit on 
commercially reasonable terms in the future could adversely impact our liquidity and results of operations as well as limit our 
ability to take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. 

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that certain courts in the State of Delaware or the federal district courts of the United 
States will be the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our 
shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of 
Chancery located within the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding 
brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, 
other employee or shareholder to us or our shareholders, any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the 
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws (as either may be amended or 
restated) or as to which the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of 
the State of Delaware, or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law of the State of 
Delaware. However, if the Court of Chancery within the State of Delaware lacks jurisdiction over such action, the action may be 
brought in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. Additionally, unless we consent in writing to the selection 
of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of 
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). The 
exclusive forum provisions will be applicable to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, subject to certain exceptions. 
Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created 
by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provisions will not apply to suits 
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive 
jurisdiction. There is, however, uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the exclusive forum provisions, and investors 
cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, Section 22 of 
the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for state and federal courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability 
created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Table of Contents

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 24 2024 Form 10-K



Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Risk Management and Strategy

The Company has established an information security program and related processes for assessing, identifying, and managing 
material risks from cybersecurity threats to the Company, including governance at the executive and Board level of the 
Company’s cyber risk management strategy and the controls designed to protect its operations. The Company’s information 
security program is managed at the executive level, with regular reporting to, and oversight by, the Board as described below. 
The Company’s program includes multi-layered governance by management, the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board and 
the Board, as described in greater detail below.

The Company’s policies and procedures identify how cybersecurity measures and controls are developed, implemented, and 
regularly reviewed and updated. The Company implements and maintains a set of controls to manage information risk, 
establishes guidelines for the use of information technology, and defines standards for identifying and mitigating information 
risks. The controls are developed based on risk assessments and a review of controls from multiple security frameworks, such 
as the Center for Internet Security’s Critical Security Control and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard. The 
Company, internally and through third parties, conducts multiple information risk assessments each year. Risks identified in such 
assessments are considered and evaluated for inclusion in the Company’s information risk portfolio and are then prioritized and 
addressed where appropriate to update the Company’s information security programs. Assessments, along with risk-based 
analysis and judgment, are used by the Company to determine how it should manage these risks. 

In addition, the Company’s Incident Response Plan (“IRP”) provides an outline for the Company on how to identify and address a 
significant cybersecurity incident. The IRP includes certain steps to be taken by the Information Security team to, among other 
things, assess the severity of an incident, determine the appropriate escalation, and mitigate or remediate the incident. The IRP 
is intended to serve as a framework to aid the Information Security team and other corporate functions in coordinating the 
Company’s response to an incident in order to minimize the impact on the Company’s business and operations, as well as the 
affected parties.

The Company also conducts cybersecurity exercises and training. For example, certain corporate associates and management-
level associates in our stores and distribution centers must complete cybersecurity training on an at least annual basis, which 
educates the associates on the Company’s policies and procedures for the handling of customer and employee personal data, 
incident reporting, and avoiding common cybersecurity threats such as phishing attacks. In addition, targeted training for 
corporate associates occurs throughout the year, and regular audiences include associates on the Company’s marketing, data 
analytics, and user experience teams. The Company’s management holds annual executive data incident tabletop exercises and 
the information security team holds more frequent technical tabletop exercises. 

The Company leverages third-party security firms in different capacities to implement or operate various aspects of the 
Company’s information assets and information security program, including to conduct risk assessments and penetration testing. 
The Company uses a variety of processes to address cybersecurity threats associated with third parties, including our use of 
third-party technology and services, such as conducting risk assessments and reviewing contractual requirements where the 
Company has determined it to be appropriate.

The Company (or the third parties on which it relies) may not be able to fully, continuously, and effectively implement security 
controls as intended. As described above, we utilize a risk-based approach and judgment to determine the security controls to 
implement and it is possible we may not implement sufficient controls if we do not recognize or underestimate a particular risk. In 
addition, security controls, no matter how well designed or implemented, may only partially mitigate and not fully eliminate risks. 
Events, when detected by security tools or third parties, may not always be immediately understood or acted upon.

Board Governance and Management

Cybersecurity risk is managed as an enterprise risk in the Company’s enterprise risk management process. Responsibility for 
risk oversight and management generally lies with the Company’s Board. To manage oversight of our cybersecurity risk 
management practices, since 2019 the Board has delegated such responsibility to the Company’s Audit and Finance Committee. 
The Company’s Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”) and the Information Security team provide reports to either the Audit 
and Finance Committee or the Board on a quarterly basis on various matters, such as current and emerging cybersecurity risks 
to the Company, risks and incidents that were escalated to management during the prior quarter (including those that did not 
require immediate escalation to the Audit and Finance Committee and/or full Board), internal and external assessments of the 
Company’s information security program, and a roadmap of projects and major initiatives to manage its information security 
posture.
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At the executive and management level, the CISO has primary responsibility for the architecture, implementation, and 
management of the Company’s information security program. The CISO has approximately two decades of experience in 
technology risk management, including over a decade with the Company, and has passed examinations and received 
certifications as a SANS Global Information Security Leader and a Certified Information Systems Auditor. The CISO reports 
directly to the Company’s Chief Digital and Technology Officer. The Company’s Information Security team, under the direction of 
the CISO, implements and provides governance and functional oversight for cybersecurity controls and services. Information 
Security processes include escalation of certain risks and incidents, including those that originate or occur at third parties, to the 
CISO and the executive team as appropriate based on the severity or potential severity. In addition, regular updates from the 
Information Security team, in conjunction with real-time escalation on an as-needed basis, are also used to assess the risk 
landscape and adjust the Company’s strategy and roadmap to address such risk. 

Although the risks from cybersecurity threats have not materially affected our business strategy, results of operations, or financial 
condition to date, they may in the future and we continue to closely monitor cyber risk. See “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS” for 
additional information regarding the Company’s cybersecurity risks and which should be read in conjunction with this Item 1C. 

Item 2. Properties
The Company’s global headquarters are located on a campus-like setting in New Albany, Ohio, which is owned by the Company. 
The Company’s global headquarters also include Company-owned distribution centers that support distribution to all domestic 
stores and the majority of domestic digital orders. The Company also leases property for its regional headquarters located in 
London, United Kingdom and Shanghai, China. In addition, the Company owns or leases facilities both domestically and 
internationally to support the Company’s operations, such as its distribution centers and various support centers.

The Company does not believe any individual regional headquarters, third-party distribution center or support center lease is 
material as, if necessary or desirable to relocate an operation, other suitable property could be found. These properties are 
utilized by both of the Company’s operating segments and are currently suitable and adequate for conducting the Company’s 
business.

As of February 1, 2025, the Company operated 789 retail stores across its brands. The Company does not believe that any 
individual store lease is material; however, certain geographic areas may have a higher concentration of store locations. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
The Company and its affiliates are parties to lawsuits and other adversary proceedings that may range from individual actions 
involving a single plaintiff to class action lawsuits. The Company’s legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims 
and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and the Company establishes estimated liabilities for the outcome of litigation 
where losses are deemed probable and the amount of loss, or range of loss, is reasonably estimable. The Company also 
determines estimates of reasonably possible losses or ranges of reasonably possible losses in excess of related accrued 
liabilities, if any, when it has determined that a loss is reasonably possible, and it is able to determine such estimates. For 
information regarding legal proceedings, see Note 18 “CONTINGENCIES” to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in 
this Annual report on Form 10-K. The Company’s accrued charges for certain legal contingencies are classified within accrued 
expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY 
DATA,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on currently available information, the Company cannot estimate a range of 
reasonably possible losses in excess of the accrued charges for legal contingencies. In addition, the Company has not 
established accruals for certain claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company where it is not possible to 
reasonably estimate the outcome or potential liability, and the Company cannot estimate a range of reasonably possible losses 
for these legal matters. Actual liabilities may differ from the amounts recorded, due to uncertainties regarding final settlement 
agreement negotiations and the terms of any approval by the courts, and there can be no assurance that the final resolution of 
legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. 
The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of additional facts.

In addition, pursuant to Item 103(c)(3)(iii) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act, the Company is required to disclose certain 
information about environmental proceedings to which a governmental authority is a party if the Company reasonably believes 
such proceedings may result in monetary sanctions, exclusive of interest and costs, above a stated threshold. The Company has 
elected to apply a threshold of $1 million for purposes of determining whether disclosure of any such proceedings is required.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) generally 
discusses our results of operations for Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2023 and provides comparisons between such fiscal years. For 
discussion and comparison of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2023, filed with the SEC on April 1, 
2024. This MD&A should be read together with the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA,” to which 
all references to Notes in MD&A are made.

In prior periods, the Company included stores and distribution expense and marketing, general and administrative expense as 
individual expense categories on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Stores & 
distribution expense was recaptioned as selling expense, while marketing, general and administrative expense was recaptioned 
as general and administrative expense. In conjunction with these changes, all marketing expenses, including amounts previously 
presented in marketing, general and administrative expense, were moved into selling expense, while certain management and IT 
costs were moved out of stores and distribution expense and into general and administrative expense. The net changes 
associated with these reclassifications results in selling expense that is $38.3 million and $35.0 million lower than the stores and 
distribution expense that was previously presented for Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively, and in general and 
administrative expense that is $38.3 million and $35.0 million higher than the marketing, general, and administrative expense 
that was previously presented for Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to 
conform to the current fiscal year’s presentation.

INTRODUCTION

MD&A is provided as a supplement to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto to help provide 
an understanding of the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity. MD&A is organized as follows:

• Overview.  A general description of the Company’s business and certain segment information, and an overview of key 
performance indicators reviewed by management in assessing the Company’s results.

• Current Trends and Outlook.  A discussion of the Company’s long-term plans for growth and a summary of the 
Company’s performance over recent years, primarily Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2023. 

• Results of Operations.  An analysis of certain components of the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations 
and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for Fiscal 2024 as compared to Fiscal 2023.

• Liquidity and Capital Resources.  A discussion of the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
liquidity as of February 1, 2025, which includes (i) an analysis of changes in cash flows for Fiscal 2024 as compared to 
Fiscal 2023, (ii) an analysis of liquidity, including availability under the Company’s credit facility, and outstanding debt 
and covenant compliance and (iii) a summary of contractual and other obligations as of February 1, 2025. 

• Recent Accounting Pronouncements.  The recent accounting pronouncements the Company has adopted or is currently 
evaluating, including the dates of adoption or expected dates of adoption, as applicable, and anticipated effects on the 
Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements, are included in Note 2 “SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES.”

• Critical Accounting Estimates.  A discussion of the accounting estimates considered to be important to the Company’s 
results of operations and financial condition, which typically require significant judgment and estimation on the part of 
the Company’s management in their application. 

• Non-GAAP Financial Measures.  MD&A provides a discussion of certain financial measures that have been determined 
to not be presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). This section 
includes certain reconciliations between GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures and additional details on non-GAAP 
financial measures, including information as to why the Company believes the non-GAAP financial measures provided 
within MD&A are useful to investors. 
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CURRENT TRENDS AND OUTLOOK

Focus Areas for Fiscal 2025

The Company introduced the Always Forward Plan in June of Fiscal 2022.  The Always Forward Plan is anchored on our 
strategic growth principles, which are to:

• Execute focused growth plans;
• Accelerate an enterprise-wide digital revolution; and 
• Operate with financial discipline

While the Company has significantly outperformed certain financial targets set forth in the Always Forward Plan, the growth 
principles continue to serve as a framework for the Company achieving sustainable and profitable growth and profitability. 

The Company’s strategic priorities continue to evolve based on changing consumer demands and new strategic opportunities, 
and management reviews and prioritizes investments and strategic focus areas to address such demands and opportunities.

Execute focused growth plans by:
• driving sales growth across regions and brand families primarily through marketing and store investments in our owned 

and operating channels, while pursuing new geographies and markets via franchise, wholesale and licensing 
partnerships;

• using our regionally relevant brand playbooks globally to align the brands’ products, voices, and experiences with 
customers, both digitally and in-store; and

• using testing and chase strategies to deliver compelling assortments and product collections across genders.

Accelerate an enterprise-wide digital revolution to improve the customer and associate experience by: 
• continuing to progress on our multi-year enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) transformation and cloud migration 

journey; and 
• investing in digital and technology to improve experiences across key parts of the customer journey while delivering a 

consistent omnichannel experience.

Operate with financial discipline by:
• using our agile inventory model and pricing strategies to position the Company to support customer demand throughout 

the year; and
• maintaining our durable balance sheet and consistent free cash flow profile, underpinned by our disciplined investment 

philosophy while balancing against macro environment impacts and efficiency efforts.

Current Macroeconomic Conditions

Macroeconomic conditions, such as a volatile interest rate environment, ongoing inflation, the geopolitical landscape, and foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations, continue to impact the global economy. In addition, recent changes in legislation and regulations, 
including enacted and proposed tariffs and other trade policies, have introduced additional uncertainty in the global economy. In 
periods of perceived or actual unfavorable economic conditions, consumers may reallocate available discretionary spending or 
determine that they have fewer funds available for discretionary spending, which may adversely impact demand for our products. 
In addition, freight costs have remained heightened since the start of the second quarter of Fiscal 2024, which we expect to 
continue through the first half of Fiscal 2025. Continued inflationary pressures could further impact expenses and have a long-
term impact on the Company, as increasing costs may impact its ability to maintain satisfactory margins.

Global Events and Supply Chain Disruptions

As a global multi-brand omnichannel specialty retailer, with operations in North America, Europe, the Middle East, and Asia, 
among other regions, management is mindful of macroeconomic risks, global challenges and the changing global geopolitical 
environment. The global supply chain also continues to be negatively impacted by various factors, including disruptions in major 
maritime routes, port congestion, higher operational costs, and increased competition for supply chain availability due to 
uncertainty regarding tariffs and trade policy. The Company has taken certain mitigating actions in response to these disruptions, 
including increasing air freight usage where appropriate and prioritizing critical orders earlier to allow for longer lead times. 
Further mitigating actions may be needed, particularly if there is prolonged port congestion or transportation delays, and could 
result in higher freight costs in the near-term and beyond. 

Management continues to monitor global events and assess the potential impacts that these and similar events may have on the 
business in future periods. Although management also develops and updates contingency plans to assist in mitigating potential 
impacts, it is possible that the Company’s preparations for such events are not adequate to mitigate their impact, and that these 
events could further adversely affect its business and results of operations. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

The Company’s capital allocation strategy and priorities are reviewed by A&F’s Board of Directors quarterly considering both 
liquidity and valuation factors. The Company believes that it will have adequate liquidity to fund operating activities for the next 
twelve months. The Company monitors financing market conditions and may in the future determine whether and when to  
repurchase shares of its Common Stock. For a discussion of the Company’s share repurchase activity, please see below under 
“Share Repurchases.”

Primary Sources and Uses of Cash

The Company’s business has two principal selling seasons: Spring and Fall. The Company generally experiences its greatest 
sales activity during the Fall season, due to the back-to-school and holiday sales periods. The Company relies on excess 
operating cash flows, which are largely generated in Fall, to fund operations throughout the fiscal year and to reinvest in the 
business to support future growth. The Company also has the ABL Facility available as a source of additional funding, which is 
described further below under “Credit Facility.”

Over the next twelve months, the Company expects its primary cash requirements to be directed towards prioritizing investments 
in the business and continuing to fund operating activities, including the acquisition of inventory, and obligations related to 
compensation, marketing, data and technology, leases and any lease buyouts or modifications it may exercise, taxes and other 
operating activities. In addition, management continuously evaluates potential opportunities to strategically deploy excess cash 
and/or deleverage the balance sheet, in consideration on various factors, such as market and business conditions, and the 
Company’s ability to accelerate investments in the business. Such opportunities may include, but are not limited to, share 
repurchases. 

When evaluating opportunities for investments in the business, management considers alignment with initiatives that position the 
business for sustainable long-term growth that align with its strategic pillars as described within “ITEM 1. BUSINESS - 
STRATEGY AND KEY BUSINESS PRIORITIES.” Examples of potential investment opportunities include, but are not limited to, 
new store experiences, and investments in the Company’s digital and omnichannel initiatives. Historically, the Company has 
utilized free cash flow generated from operations to fund any discretionary capital expenditures, which have been prioritized 
towards new store experiences, as well as marketing, digital and omnichannel investments, information technology, and other 
projects. For Fiscal 2024, the Company used $182.9 million towards capital expenditures, up from $157.8 million of capital 
expenditures in Fiscal 2023. Total capital expenditures for Fiscal 2025 are expected to be approximately $200 million.

Share Repurchases

In November 2021, A&F’s Board of Directors approved a $500 million share repurchase authorization (the “2021 Authorization”). 
During Fiscal 2024, the Company repurchased $230 million, or 1.6 million shares, of its Common Stock pursuant to the 2021 
Authorization. On March 5, 2025, the Company announced that A&F’s Board of Directors approved a new $1.3 billion share 
repurchase authorization program (the “2025 Authorization”). The 2025 Authorization has no expiration date. In addition, the 
2025 Authorization replaced the 2021 Authorization, and shares may no longer be repurchased pursuant to the 2021 
Authorization.

Historically, the Company has repurchased shares of its Common Stock from time to time, which repurchases are dependent on 
excess liquidity, market conditions, and business conditions, with the objectives of returning excess cash to shareholders and 
offsetting dilution from issuances of Common Stock associated with the vesting of restricted stock units. Shares may be 
repurchased in the open market or in private transactions in such manner as be deemed advisable from time to time (including, 
without limitation, pursuant to accelerated share repurchase programs, one or more trading plans established in accordance with 
Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act, or any other method deemed advisable) and may be discontinued at any time. Refer to “ITEM 
5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding the Company’s publicly 
announced share repurchase authorization programs. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The Company maintains its cash equivalents in financial instruments, primarily time deposits and money market funds, with 
original maturities of three months or less. Recently, the Company invested in short-term marketable securities with maturities 
less than twelve months. Due to the short-term nature of these instruments, changes in interest rates are not expected to 
materially affect the fair value of these financial instruments. 

Refer to Note 5, “INVESTMENTS,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the Company’s Rabbi 
Trust assets.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Prior to July 2, 2020, the Company’s exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates related primarily to the increase or 
decrease in the amount of interest expense from fluctuations in the LIBO rate, or an alternate base rate associated with the 
Company’s former term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and the ABL Facility. On July 2, 2020, the Company issued the 
Senior Secured Notes and repaid all outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan Facility and the ABL Facility, thereby 
eliminating any then-existing cash flow market risk due to changes in interest rates. On July 15, 2024, the Company redeemed 
all of its outstanding Senior Secured Notes, thereby eliminating that interest rate risk. This analysis for Fiscal 2025 may differ 
from actual results due to potential changes in gross borrowings outstanding under the ABL Facility and potential changes in 
interest rate terms and limitations described within the ABL Credit Agreement.

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBO rate) announced it intended to stop compelling 
banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBO rate after 2021. Certain publications of the LIBO rate were phased out at the 
end of 2021 and all LIBO rate publications ceased after June 30, 2023. On March 15, 2023, the Company entered into the First 
Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to eliminate LIBO rate-based loans and to use the current market 
definitions with respect to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, as well as to make other conforming changes. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK

A&F’s international subsidiaries generally operate with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Since the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. dollars, the Company must translate all components of these financial 
statements from functional currencies into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect during or at the end of the reporting period. 
The fluctuation in the value of the U.S. dollar against other currencies affects the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities. The potential impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations increases as international operations 
relative to domestic operations increase.

A&F and its subsidiaries have exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with foreign currency 
transactions and forecasted foreign currency transactions, including the purchase of inventory between subsidiaries and foreign-
currency-denominated assets and liabilities. The Company has established a program that primarily utilizes foreign currency 
exchange forward contracts to partially offset the risks associated with the effects of certain foreign currency transactions and 
forecasted transactions. Under this program, increases or decreases in foreign currency exchange rate exposures are partially 
offset by gains or losses on foreign currency exchange forward contracts, to mitigate the impact of foreign currency exchange 
gains or losses. The Company does not use forward contracts to engage in currency speculation. Outstanding foreign currency 
exchange forward contracts are recorded at fair value at the end of each fiscal period.

Foreign currency exchange forward contracts are sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Company 
assessed the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% devaluation of the U.S. dollar against the exchange 
rates for foreign currencies under forward contracts. Such a hypothetical devaluation would decrease derivative instrument fair 
values by approximately $17.2 million. As the Company’s foreign currency exchange forward contracts are primarily designated 
as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions, the hypothetical change in fair values would be expected to be largely offset by 
the net change in fair values of the underlying hedged items. Refer to Note 14, “DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS,” included in 
“ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fair value of 
outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in other current assets and accrued expenses as of 
February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024.

For a detailed discussion of material risk factors that have the potential to cause our actual results to differ materially from our 
expectations, refer to “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS,” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The measurement of operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities includes amounts related to: 
• Lease payments made prior to the lease commencement date; 
• Incentives from landlords received by the Company for signing a lease, including construction allowances or deferred 

lease credits paid to the Company by landlords towards construction and tenant improvement costs, which are 
presented as a reduction to the right-of-use asset recorded;

• Fixed payments related to operating lease components, such as rent escalation payments scheduled at the lease 
commencement date;

• Fixed payments related to nonlease components, such as taxes, insurance, and maintenance costs; and
• Unamortized initial direct costs incurred in conjunction with securing a lease, including key money, which are amounts 

paid directly to a landlord in exchange for securing the lease, and leasehold acquisition costs, which are amounts paid 
to parties other than the landlord, such as an existing tenant, to secure the desired lease.

The measurement of operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities excludes amounts related to: 
• Costs expected to be incurred to return a leased asset to its original condition, also referred to as asset retirement 

obligations, which are classified within other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets;
• Variable payments related to operating lease components, such as contingent rent payments made by the Company 

based on performance, the expense of which is recognized in the period incurred on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss);

• Variable payments related to nonlease components, such as taxes, insurance, and maintenance costs, the expense of 
which is recognized in the period incurred in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
(Loss); and

• Leases not related to Company-operated retail stores with an initial term of 12 months or less, the expense of which is 
recognized in the period incurred in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Certain of the Company’s operating leases include options to extend the lease or to terminate the lease. The Company assesses 
these operating leases and, depending on the facts and circumstances, may or may not include these options in the 
measurement of the Company’s operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities. Generally, the Company’s options to extend its 
operating leases are at the Company’s sole discretion and at the time of lease commencement are not reasonably certain of 
being exercised. There may be instances in which a lease is being renewed on a month-to-month basis and, in these instances, 
the Company will recognize lease expense in the period incurred in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) until a new agreement has been executed. Upon the signing of the renewal agreement, the 
Company recognizes an asset for the right to use the leased asset and a liability based on the present value of remaining lease 
payments over the lease term.

Amortization and interest expense related to operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are generally calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Amortization and interest expense related to previously impaired operating lease right-of-
use assets are calculated on a front-loaded pattern. Depending on the nature of the operating lease, amortization and interest 
expense are primarily recorded within selling expense, or general and administrative expense, on the Consolidated Statements 
of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The Company’s operating lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive 
covenants. In addition, the Company does not have any sublease arrangements with any related party.

Refer to Note 8, “LEASES.”

Long-lived Asset Impairment

For the purposes of asset impairment, the Company’s long-lived assets, primarily operating lease right-of-use assets, leasehold 
improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the store level, which is the 
lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. On at least a 
quarterly basis, management reviews the Company’s asset groups for indicators of impairment, which include, but are not limited 
to, material declines in operational performance, a history of losses, an expectation of future losses, adverse market conditions, 
store closure or relocation decisions, and any other events or changes in circumstances that would indicate the carrying amount 
of an asset group might not be recoverable.

If an asset group displays an indicator of impairment, it is tested for recoverability by comparing the sum of the estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows attributable to the asset group to the carrying amount of the asset group. This recoverability test 
requires management to make assumptions and judgments related, but not limited, to management’s expectations for future 
cash flows from operating the store. The key assumption used in developing these projected cash flows used in the 
recoverability test is estimated sales growth rate.
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If the sum of the estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable to an asset group is less than its carrying amount, and it is 
determined that the carrying amount of the asset group is not recoverable, management determines if there is an impairment 
loss by comparing the carrying amount of the asset group to its fair value. Fair value of an asset group measured on a non-
recurring basis is based on the highest and best use of the asset group, often using a discounted cash flow model that utilizes 
Level 3 fair value inputs. The key assumptions used in the Company’s fair value analyses are estimated sales growth rate and 
comparable market rents. An impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount of the asset group over 
its fair value.  

Refer to Note 9, “ASSET IMPAIRMENT.”

Other Assets

Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets consist primarily of the Company’s trust-owned life insurance policies held in 
the irrevocable rabbi trust (the “Rabbi Trust”), deferred tax assets, long-term deposits, intellectual property, long-term restricted 
cash and equivalents, long-term supplies, certain costs incurred to develop internal-use computer software during the application 
development stage and various other assets.

The Company defers costs incurred with the implementation of a cloud computing arrangement (“CCA”) that is a service 
contract. The deferred implementation costs of cloud computing arrangements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the cloud computing arrangement, generally ranging from 1 to 5 years, in general and administrative expenses on 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). The eligible implementation costs incurred of a 
cloud computing arrangement are included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and in operating cash flows of 
the Consolidated statements of cash flows. The deferred CCA implementation costs were $73.3 million and $49.9 million, net of 
accumulated amortization of $25.5 million and $12.2 million for the years ended February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024, 
respectively.

The Rabbi Trust includes amounts, restricted in their use, to meet funding obligations to participants in the Abercrombie & Fitch 
Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan I, the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and 
Supplemental Retirement Plan II and the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. The Rabbi Trust assets primarily consist of 
trust-owned life insurance policies which are recorded at cash surrender value and are included in other assets on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The change in cash surrender value of the life insurance policies in the Rabbi Trust is recorded in 
interest expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). 

Refer to Note 5, “INVESTMENTS.”

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property primarily includes trademark assets associated with the Company’s international operations, consisting of 
finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets. The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over a useful life of 
10 to 20 years.

Supply Chain Finance Program

Under the supply chain finance (“SCF”) program, which is administered by a third party, the Company’s vendors, at their sole 
discretion, are given the opportunity to sell receivables from the Company to a participating financial institution at a discount that 
leverages the Company’s credit profile. The commercial terms negotiated by the Company with its vendors are consistent, 
irrespective of whether a vendor participates in the SCF program. A participating vendor has the option to be paid by the financial 
institution earlier than the original invoice due date. The Company’s responsibility is limited to making payment on the terms 
originally negotiated by the Company with each vendor, regardless of whether the vendor sells its receivable to a financial 
institution. If a vendor chooses to participate in the SCF program, the Company pays the financial institution the stated amount of 
confirmed merchandise invoices on the stated maturity date, which is typically 75 days from the invoice date. The agreement 
with the financial institution does not require the Company to provide assets pledged as security or other forms of guarantees for 
the SCF program.

As of February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024, $88.4 million and $72.4 million of SCF program liabilities were recorded in 
accounts payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively, and reflected as a cash flow from operating activities in the 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows when settled.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when control of the good is transferred to the customer, generally upon 
pick up at, or shipment from, a Company location.

Revenue is recorded net of estimated returns, associate discounts, promotions and other similar customer incentives. The 
Company estimates reserves for sales returns based on historical experience among other factors. The sales return reserve is 
classified in accrued expenses with a corresponding asset related to the projected returned merchandise recorded in inventory 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company accounts for gift cards sold to customers by recognizing an unearned revenue liability at the time of sale, which is 
recognized as net sales when redeemed by the customer or when the Company has determined the likelihood of redemption to 
be remote, referred to as gift card breakage. Gift card breakage is recognized proportionally with gift card redemptions in net 
sales. Gift cards sold to customers do not expire or lose value over periods of inactivity and the Company is not required by law 
to escheat the value of unredeemed gift cards to the jurisdictions in which it operates.

The Company also maintains loyalty programs, which primarily provide customers with the opportunity to earn points toward 
future merchandise discount rewards with qualifying purchases. The Company accounts for expected future reward redemptions 
by recognizing an unearned revenue liability as customers accumulate points, which remains until revenue is recognized at the 
earlier of redemption or expiration. 

Unearned revenue liabilities related to the Company’s gift card program and loyalty programs are classified in accrued expenses 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are typically recognized as revenue within a 12-month period. 

For additional details on the Company’s unearned revenue liabilities related to the Company’s gift card and loyalty programs, 
refer to Note 3, “REVENUE RECOGNITION.”

The Company also recognizes revenue under wholesale arrangements when control passes to the wholesale partner, which is 
generally upon shipment. Revenue from the Company’s franchise and license arrangements, primarily royalties earned upon the 
sale of merchandise, is generally recognized at the time merchandise is sold to the franchisees’ retail customers or to the 
licensees’ wholesale customers.

The Company does not include tax amounts collected from customers on behalf of third parties, including sales and indirect 
taxes, in net sales.

All revenues are recognized in net sales in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). For a 
discussion of the disaggregation of revenue, refer to Note 17, “SEGMENT REPORTING.” 

Cost of Sales, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive 
Income (Loss), primarily consists of cost incurred to ready inventory for sale, including product costs, freight, and import costs, as 
well as provisions for reserves for shrink and lower of cost and net realizable value. Gains and losses associated with the 
effective portion of designated foreign currency exchange forward contracts related to the hedging of intercompany inventory 
transactions are also recognized in cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, on the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

The Company’s cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, and consequently gross profit, may not be comparable 
to those of other retailers, as inclusion of certain costs vary across the industry. Some retailers include all costs related to buying, 
design and distribution operations in cost of sales, while others may include either all or a portion of these costs in selling, 
general and administrative expenses.

Selling Expense

Selling expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) is comprised of stores, 
fulfillment and marketing expenses.  Stores expenses include non-management employee compensation; costs associated with 
operating stores including occupancy costs; including lease costs; utilities and other landlord expenses; depreciation and 
amortization; repairs and maintenance. Fulfillment costs primarily consists of costs related to the Company’s digital operations;  
shipping and handling costs; non-management employee compensation; and distribution center (“DC”) expenses. Marketing 
expenses include costs associated with the Company’s marketing and advertising activities. 
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The Second Amendment amended the ABL Credit Agreement to, among other things:
• increase the aggregate commitments thereunder from $400 million to $500 million; 
• establish a $100 million sub-facility for the benefit of Abfico Netherlands Distribution B.V. (“Abfico”) and AFH Stores UK 

Limited (“AFH UK”) that is (i) secured by a first priority security interest in all assets (subject to specified exclusions) of 
each of Abfico and AFH UK, (ii) guaranteed by A&F and certain of its domestic direct and indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, and (iii) subject to a borrowing base as described therein;                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

• extend the maturity date from April 29, 2026 to August 2, 2029; 
• increase the letter of credit sub-limit from $50 million to $62.5 million; 
• decrease the swing line availability from $50 million to $30 million;  
• decrease the unused line fee from a variable rate of 25 basis points to 37.5 basis points to a flat rate of 25 basis points; 

and
• increase pricing of the interest rate margin applicable to borrowings as follows: 

◦ from 1.25% to 1.50% when average availability is greater than or equal to 50% of the Loan Cap (as defined in 
the Second Amendment); and 

◦ from 1.50% to 1.75% when average availability is less than 50% of the Loan Cap.  

The ABL Facility is subject to a borrowing base, consisting primarily of inventory located in the U.S., the United Kingdom and the 
Netherlands, with a letter of credit sub-limit of $62.5 million, a swing line loan sub-limit of $30 million, and an accordion feature 
allowing A&F to increase the revolving commitment by up to $150 million subject to specified conditions. The ABL Facility is 
available for working capital, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes.

As of February 1, 2025, availability under the ABL Facility was $500 million, net of $0.4 million in outstanding stand-by letters of 
credit. As the Company must maintain excess availability equal to the greater of 10% of the Loan Cap or $36 million under the 
ABL Facility, borrowing capacity available to the Company under the ABL Facility was $450 million as of February 1, 2025. 

Representations, Warranties and Covenants

The agreements related to the ABL Facility contain various representations, warranties and restrictive covenants that, among 
other things and subject to specified exceptions, restrict the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to: grant or incur liens; 
incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness; sell or otherwise dispose of assets, including capital stock of subsidiaries; 
make investments in certain subsidiaries; pay dividends, make distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock; change the 
nature of their business; and consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of the assets of the Company or A&F 
Management to another entity.

Certain of the agreements related to the ABL Facility also contain certain affirmative covenants, including reporting requirements, 
such as delivery of financial statements, certificates and notices of certain events, maintaining insurance and providing additional 
guarantees and collateral in certain circumstances.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants under these agreements as of February 1, 2025.

13. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Plans

As of February 1, 2025, the Company had two primary share-based compensation plans: (i) the 2016 Directors LTIP, with 
900,000 shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance, under which the Company is authorized to grant restricted stock, 
restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, stock options and deferred stock awards to non-associate members of the Board 
of Directors; and (ii) the 2016 Associates LTIP, with 10,965,000 shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance, under which 
the Company is authorized to grant restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share awards, stock appreciation rights 
and stock options to associates of the Company. The Company also has outstanding shares from two other share-based 
compensation plans under which the Company granted restricted stock units, performance share awards, stock appreciation 
rights and stock options to associates of the Company and restricted stock units, stock options and deferred stock awards to 
non-associate members of the Board of Directors in prior years. No new shares may be granted under these previously-
authorized plans and any outstanding awards continue in effect in accordance with their respective terms.
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In addition, the Company maintains the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, which provides retirement income to its former 
Chief Executive Officer for life, based on averaged compensation before retirement, including base salary and cash incentive 
compensation. As of February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024, the Company had recorded $6.1 million and $6.7 million, 
respectively, in other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan 
distributions. 

17. SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Company’s reportable segments are based on the financial information the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) uses to 
allocate resources and assess performance of its business. 

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, to leverage the knowledge and experience of our regional teams to better drive brand 
growth, the Company reorganized its structure and now manages its business on a geographic basis, consisting of three 
reportable segments: Americas; Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA); and Asia-Pacific (APAC). Corporate functions and 
other income and expenses are evaluated on a consolidated basis and are not allocated to the Company’s segments, and 
therefore are included as a reconciling item between segment and total operating income (loss). The Americas reportable 
segment includes the results of operations in North America and South America. The EMEA reportable segment includes the 
results of operations in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. The APAC reportable segment includes the results of operations in 
the Asia-Pacific region, including Asia and Oceania. Intersegment sales and transfers are recorded at cost and are treated as a 
transfer of inventory. All intercompany revenues are eliminated in consolidation and are not reviewed when evaluating segment 
performance. All prior periods presented are recast to conform to the new segment presentation.

The group comprised of the Company’s (i) Chief Executive Officer, (ii) Chief Operating Officer, and (iii) Chief Financial Officer 
functions as the Company’s CODM. The Company’s CODM manages business operations and evaluates the performance of 
each segment based on the net sales and operating income (loss) of the segment. The CODM considers actual performance 
relative to expectations, and growth potential to determine the appropriate allocation of resources to each segment.  

Net sales by segment are presented by attributing revenues on the basis of the segment that fulfills the order. Operating income 
(loss) for each segment includes net sales to third parties, related cost of sales and operating expenses directly attributed to the 
segment. Corporate/other expenses include expenses incurred that are not directly attributed to a reportable segment and 
primarily relate to corporate or global functions such as design, sourcing, brand management, corporate strategy, information 
technology, finance, treasury, legal, human resources, and other corporate support services, as well as certain globally managed 
components of the planning, merchandising, and marketing functions.

The Company reports inventories by segment as that information is used by the CODM in determining allocation of resources to 
the segments. The Company does not report its other assets by segment as that information is not used by the CODM in 
assessing segment performance or allocating resources.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
February 1, 2025, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have 
audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of February 1, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as of February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended February 1, 2025 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of February 1, 2025, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to 
express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. 
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control 
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets – Stores

As described in Notes 2, 7 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated property and equipment, 
net balance was $575.8 million and consolidated operating lease right-of-use assets balance was $803.1 million as of 
February 1, 2025. During the year ended February 1, 2025, the Company recognized long-lived asset store impairment charges 
of $11.6 million. The Company’s long-lived assets, primarily operating lease right-of-use assets, leasehold improvements, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment, are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the store level, which is the lowest level for 
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. On at least a quarterly 
basis, management reviews the Company’s asset groups for indicators of impairment, which include, but are not limited to, 
material declines in operational performance, a history of losses, an expectation of future losses, adverse market conditions, 
store closure or relocation decisions, and any other events or changes in circumstances that would indicate the carrying amount 
of an asset group might not be recoverable. If an asset group displays an indicator of impairment, it is tested for recoverability by 
comparing the sum of the estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the asset group to the carrying amount of the 
asset group. This recoverability test requires management to make assumptions and judgments related, but not limited, to 
management’s expectations for future cash flows from operating the store. The key assumption used in developing these 
projected cash flows used in the recoverability test is estimated sales growth rate. If the sum of the estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows attributable to an asset group is less than its carrying amount, and it is determined that the carrying 
amount of the asset group is not recoverable, management determines if there is an impairment loss by comparing the carrying 
amount of the asset group to its fair value. Fair value of an asset group is based on the highest and best use of the asset group, 
often using a discounted cash flow model that utilizes Level 3 fair value inputs. The key assumptions used in the Company’s fair 
value analysis are estimated sales growth rate and comparable market rents. An impairment loss is recognized based on the 
excess of the carrying amount of the asset group over its fair value.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the impairment of long-lived assets - 
stores is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the future undiscounted cash 
flows attributable to an asset group when testing for recoverability and when estimating the fair value of the asset groups to 
measure for impairment; and (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and 
evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to estimated sales growth rate when developing the future 
undiscounted cash flows, and comparable market rents when estimating the fair value.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to 
management’s store impairment assessments, including controls over the recoverability test and fair value estimate of the asset 
groups. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s process for developing the future undiscounted 
cash flows attributable to an asset group when testing for recoverability and when estimating the fair value of the asset groups to 
measure for impairment; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the models used by management in estimating the fair value of the 
asset groups; (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the models; and (iv) evaluating the 
reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to estimated sales growth rate when developing the 
future undiscounted cash flows and comparable market rents when estimating the fair value. Evaluating management’s 
assumptions involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering the current and 
past performance of the asset groups as it relates to estimated sales growth rate, the consistency with evidence obtained in 
other areas of the audit as it relates to estimated sales growth rate, and the consistency with external market data as it relates to 
estimated sales growth rate and comparable market rents. 

/s/  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Columbus, Ohio
March 31, 2025 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1996. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting 
and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

A&F maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 
disclosed in the reports that A&F files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to 
A&F’s management, including A&F’s Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. Because of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and 
procedures are met.   

A&F’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer of A&F (who serves as Principal Executive Officer of A&F) and the 
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of A&F (who serves as Principal Financial Officer of A&F), evaluated the 
effectiveness of A&F’s disclosure controls and procedures as of February 1, 2025. The Chief Executive Officer of A&F (in such 
individual’s capacity as the Principal Executive Officer of A&F) and the Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of A&F (in 
such individual’s capacity as the Principal Financial Officer of A&F) concluded that A&F’s disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective at a reasonable level of assurance as of February 1, 2025, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.  

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING

The management of A&F is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. A&F’s 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluations of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

With the participation of the Chief Executive Officer of A&F and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F, 
management evaluated the effectiveness of A&F’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 1, 2025 using criteria 
established in the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on the assessment of A&F’s internal control over financial reporting, under the criteria 
described in the preceding sentence, management has concluded that, as of February 1, 2025, A&F’s internal control over 
financial reporting was effective.

The effectiveness of A&F’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 1, 2025 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in 
“ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in A&F’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended February 1, 2025 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, A&F’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the thirteen weeks ended February 1, 2025, no director or officer of the Company adopted a new “Rule 10b5-1 trading 
arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” and no director or officer of the Company modified or terminated an 
existing “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement ” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of 
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent 
Inspections
Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND PERSONS NOMINATED OR CHOSEN TO 
BECOME DIRECTORS OR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Information concerning directors will be included under the caption “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors” in A&F’s definitive Proxy 
Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2025 Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated by reference herein. 
Information concerning executive officers is included under the caption “INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS” 
within “ITEM 1. BUSINESS” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 

Information concerning beneficial ownership reporting compliance under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will be included 
under the caption “Ownership of Our Shares — Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is 
incorporated by reference herein.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Board of Directors has adopted the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to all 
associates and directors worldwide and incorporates an additional Code of Ethics applicable to our Chief Executive Officer, our 
Chief Financial Officer, and other designated financial associates. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the 
“Corporate Governance” page of the Company’s corporate website at corporate.abercrombie.com.

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

The Company has adopted insider trading policies and procedures regarding securities transactions (the “Insider Trading Policy”) 
that apply to all officers, directors, employees, consultants and contractors of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the 
Company itself. The Company believes that the Insider Trading Policy is reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider 
trading laws, rules and regulations with respect to the purchase, sale and/or other dispositions of the Company’s securities, as 
well as the applicable rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange. A copy of the Insider Trading Policy is filed as 
Exhibit 19 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

Information concerning the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit and Finance Committee”) will be 
included under the captions “Corporate Governance — Committees of the Board and Meeting Attendance — Committees of the 
Board” and “Audit and Finance Committee Matters” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH STOCKHOLDERS MAY RECOMMEND NOMINEES TO THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Information concerning changes in the procedures by which stockholders of A&F may recommend nominees to the Board of 
Directors will be included under the captions “Corporate Governance — Director Nominations — Stockholder Recommendations 
and Nominations for Director Candidates,” “Corporate Governance — Director Qualifications and Consideration of Director 
Candidates,” “Stockholder Proposals and Nominations for 2026 Annual Meeting” and “Additional Information About Our Annual 
Meeting and Voting — How do I nominate a director using the ‘Proxy Access’ provisions under the Company’s Bylaws?” in the 
2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein. 
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information regarding executive compensation will be included under the captions “Corporate Governance  — Board Role in Risk 
Oversight,” “Compensation of Directors,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Report of the Compensation and Human 
Capital Committee on Executive Compensation,” and “Executive Compensation Tables” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is 
incorporated by reference herein.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be included under the caption 
“Ownership of Our Shares” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein.

Information regarding Common Stock authorized for issuance under A&F’s equity compensation plans will be included under the 
caption “Equity Compensation Plans” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director 
Independence
Information concerning relationships and transactions with related persons will be included under the caption “Corporate 
Governance — Director Independence and Related Person Transactions” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by 
reference herein.

Information concerning director independence will be included under the captions “Corporate Governance — Board Leadership 
Structure,” “Corporate Governance — Committees of the Board and Meeting Attendance,” and “Corporate Governance — 
Director Independence and Related Person Transactions” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information concerning pre-approval policies and procedures of the Audit and Finance Committee and fees for services rendered 
by the Company’s principal independent registered public accounting firm will be included under the caption “Audit and Finance 
Committee Matters — Audit Fees” in the 2025 Proxy Statement and is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV
 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the fiscal years ended 
February 1, 2025, February 3, 2024 and January 28, 2023.

Consolidated Balance Sheets at February 1, 2025 and February 3, 2024.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended February 1, 2025, February 3, 
2024 and January 28, 2023.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended February 1, 2025, February 3, 2024 and 
January 28, 2023.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. (PCAOB ID 238)

(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules:

All financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are 
omitted because the required information is either not applicable or not material.

(3) Exhibits:

The documents listed in the Index to Exhibits that immediately precedes the Signatures page of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K are filed or furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as exhibits or incorporated into this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K by reference as noted. Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement is 
identified as such in the Index to Exhibits.

(b) The documents listed in the Index to Exhibits that immediately precedes the Signatures page of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K are filed or furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as exhibits or incorporated into this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K by reference.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules
 None

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.

Table of Contents

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 86 2024 Form 10-K





10.16 Confirmation, Ratification and Amendment of Ancillary Loan Documents, made as of April 29, 2021, among Abercrombie & Fitch 
Co., for itself and as Lead Borrower; the other Borrowers from time to time party thereto; the Guarantors from time to time party 
thereto; and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent , incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to A&F’s Annual Report on 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022 (File No. 001-12107).†

10.17* Retirement Agreement, dated December 8, 2014, between Michael S. Jeffries and A&F, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed December 9, 2014 (File No. 001-12107).

10.18* Employment Offer, dated October 8, 2014, between Fran Horowitz and A&F, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed October 15, 2014 (File No. 001-12107).

10.19* Letter, dated December 16, 2015, between A&F Management and Fran Horowitz setting forth terms of employment as President 
and Chief Merchandising Officer, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.74 to A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended January 30, 2016 (File No. 001-12107).

10.20* Form of Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Fran Horowitz as of May 10, 2017, incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed May 12, 2017 (File No. 001-12107).

10.21* Non-Compete Amendment entered into between A&F Management and Fran Horowitz as of November 5, 2021 (including a 
schedule identifying executive officers of A&F party to substantially identical Non-Compete Agreements with A&F Management, 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 
30, 2021 (File No. 001-12107).

10.22* Employment Offer, dated May 6, 2016, between Kristin Scott and A&F, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to A&F’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed May 23, 2016 (File No. 001-12107).

10.23* Form of Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Kristin Scott as of May 10, 2017, incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed May 12, 2017 (File No. 001-12107).

10.24* Separation Agreement entered into by and between A&F Management and Kristin Scott, effective February 13, 2024 (filed 
herewith), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated and filed February 16, 
2024 (File No. 001-12107). 

10.25* Employment Offer, dated August 17, 2017, between Scott Lipesky and A&F, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
A&F's Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed September 6, 2017 (File No. 001-12107).

10.26* Form of Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Scott Lipesky as of September 7, 2017, incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to A&F's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 28, 2017 (File No. 
001-12107).

10.27* Employment Offer, dated August 24, 2018, between Gregory J. Henchel and A&F, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to A&F's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended November 3, 2018 (File No. 001-12107).

10.28* Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Gregory J. Henchel as of September 13, 2018, incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to A&F's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended November 3, 2018 (File No. 
001-12107).

10.29* Employment Offer, dated May 20, 2021, between Samir Desai and A&F (including, as Exhibit A, the Agreement entered into 
between A&F Management and Samir Desai as of May 20, 2021), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to A&F’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 31, 2021 (File No. 001-12107).

10.30* Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Jay Rust as of May 9, 2023, the execution date by A&F Management and 
Mr. Rust, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to A&F's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated and filed September 1, 
2023 for the quarterly period ended July 29, 2023 (File No. 001-12107).

10.31* Form of Agreement entered into between A&F Management and Robert J. Ball as of November 20, 2024, incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended November 2, 2024 (File No. 
001-12107).

10.32* Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to A&F's Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q/A for the quarterly period ended April 29, 2017 (File No. 001-12107).

10.33* Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K dated and filed June 17, 2005 (File No. 001-12107).

10.34* Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan by 
Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on August 20, 2014, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to A&F’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 30, 2016 (File No. 001-12107).

10.35* Amended and Restated Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed June 17, 2011 (File No. 001-12107).

10.36* Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-
Term Incentive Plan by Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on August 20, 2014, incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.12 to A&F’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 30, 2016 (File No. 001-12107).

10.37* Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates (as amended on June 8, 2023), incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed on June 14, 2023 (File No. 001-12107).

10.38* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to associates (employees) of 
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates on 
and after March 26, 2019 and prior to March 7, 2023, (3-year vesting), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to A&F’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 2, 2020 (File No. 001-12107).

10.39* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to associates (employees) of 
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates on 
and after June 16, 2016 and prior to March 7, 2023 (4-year vesting), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to A&F’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 30, 2016 (File No. 001-12107).

10.40* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to associates (employees) of 
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates on 
and after March 7, 2023 (3-year vesting), incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the fiscal year ended January 28, 2023 (File No. 001-12107).
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